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ChaIrMaN’S rEpOrT

I am delighted to present the 2005 Annual Report 

of the IMB. The report highlights a groundbreaking 

year with markedly increased productivity across all 

departments as the remit of the Board continues to 

expand. From the outset I would like to commend 

the management and staff of the IMB for their 

dedication and commitment to delivery as they 

stepped up to meet the challenges of increased 

demands.

The increases in outputs brought inevitable 

challenges particularly to resources. Nevertheless 

2005 saw greater efficiencies as the impact of the 

restructuring and IT programme, nIMBus, 

permeated throughout the organisation delivering 

real and tangible benefits. Most notably increases 

in authorisations occurred in parallel with 

considerable reductions in backlogs. This 

underpinned the effectiveness of the new 

structures and IT in streamlining our operations 

while increasing productivity. It is therefore an even 

more significant achievement that the Board 

continues to deliver to the highest standards and 

yet remains independently funded, within budget, 

and without recourse to state support. The 

leadership of individual management and 

commitment of staff in this achievement is 

reflective of the IMB culture whereby the ethos is 

defined by a willingness and openness at every 

level to meet new challenges head on.

The effective regulation both of medicines and 

medical devices available on the Irish market by 

the IMB is crucial to protecting and enhancing 

public health and animal health. The remit of 

that role is increasingly expanding. 2005 saw 

additional emphasis on pharmacovigilance arising 

from the revised pharmaceuticals legislation, 

which came into force in October and November 

as well as vigilance related activities arising 

from implementation of the Blood Directive. The 

IMB also provided input to the Department of 

Agriculture and Food (DAF) in relation to the Animal 

Remedies Regulations 2005 which were signed 

into law in November.

In parallel with increased productivity across all 

areas of operation the IMB continues to maintain 

the highest of standards and in certain areas is 

regarded as a showcase for best practice for 

many of its European counterparts. The use by 

the Medical Devices Department of the secure 

extranet was particularly of interest to a number 

of European agencies who expressed an interest 

in adopting the IMB approach.

Pat O’Mahony, Chairman
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The IMB works closely with its EU colleagues at 

EMEA and EU Commission level, collaborating 

and sharing intelligence and work practices which 

greatly assist in improving understanding and 

reducing duplication of effort. The IMB presented 

a number of workshops at the EU Commission’s 

request for accession countries.

A further highlight of the year was the formal 

opening by An Tanaiste, Minister for Health and 

Children, Mary Harney T.D., of Kevin O’Malley 

House, so named after Professor Kevin O’Malley 

in recognition of his distinguished contribution 

to Irish medicines regulation. It is a very positive 

achievement by the Board that we were in a 

position to purchase our own headquarters. 

We appreciate and value the extended 

co-operation that we enjoy from the various 

scientific bodies, professional groups and 

representative organisations, as well as industry, 

the EU and international scientific and medical 

organisations. Their time and input in assisting our 

organisation to maintain the highest standards of 

medicinal products and medical devices on the Irish 

market are much appreciated. 

We thank the Minister for Health and Children 

and the staff at her Department for their ongoing 

support in our day to day workings. In addition, 

we also appreciate the assistance of the 

Department for Agriculture and Food. The 

continued co-operation of the dedicated 

professionals in these departments has and will 

continue to contribute to the productive operation 

of the IMB. 

I would like to reiterate a sincere thank you 

to the individuals who comprise our various 

committees and subcommittees who, combined 

with our staff, ensure that the IMB fulfils its 

important role in protecting human and animal 

health and engaging with our stakeholders to do 

so.

The foresight of the Board in undertaking a 

comprehensive review of all processes and 

procedures thus ensuring the IMB’s capacity 

to meet its expanding remit is reflected in the 

increased productivity across the organisation and 

additionally underpinned by the quality of delivery. 

Long term planning is vital to ensuring that the 

IMB is best positioned to continue to deliver its 

mandate and that has been clearly demonstrated 

with regard to the organisational changes.

Nevertheless, the Board must continually look to 

the future to ensure continuity of best practice in 

protecting both human health and animal health 

through the efficient and focussed regulation 

and control of medicines and medical devices. 

In this context the IMB is mindful of the rapid 

pace at which the Board’s remit is expanding 

and is determined to be appropriately resourced 

to enable implementation of the highest standards 

of procedure as an organisation that is continually 

evolving and within budget.

Finally, from a personal perspective, I would like to 

add that I am most honoured to be reappointed as 

Chairman of the IMB. I look forward to continuing 

to give the IMB and those we work closest with 

my fullest commitment.

pat O’Mahony 

Chairman
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BOard MEMBErS 

Back row (l-r) are Dr. Rory Lehane; Mr. Denis Cronin; 
Ms. Anne Nolan; Mr. P.J. O’Connor; Mr Aidan Murray

Front row (l-r) are Prof. Brendan Buckley, Ms. Aideen Murphy; 
Mr. Pat O’Mahony (Chairman); Ms. Breda Dooley. 

The Board of the IMB was appointed on 2nd March 

2001 by the Minister for Health and Children, Mr. 

Micheál Martin TD in accordance with the powers 

conferred on him by subsection 2 of section 7 

of the IMB Act, 1995 for the period ending 31st 

December 2005. 

The Board members are:

Mr. Pat O’Mahony (Chairman)

Mr. Denis Cronin

Ms. Breda Dooley

Dr. Rory Lehane

Ms. Aideen Murphy 

Ms. Anne Nolan 

Mr. P.J. O’Connor

Prof. Brendan Buckley (appointed 9th August 2005)

Mr. Aidan Murray
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ChIEf ExECuTIvE’S rEpOrT

OVERVIEW OF 2005
The mission of the Irish Medicines Board is ‘to 

protect and enhance public and animal health 

through the regulation of human and veterinary 

medicines and medical devices, available in Ireland 

or manufactured in Ireland for Irish or export 

markets.’ During 2005, we continued to make 

considerable progress in achieving this mission 

across a broad range of performance indicators. All 

public health issues were dealt with successfully 

during the year.

Maintaining our focus on public and animal 

health protection, we continued to implement 

considerable change. We consolidated the 

significant improvements made in 2004 in the 

assessment of human medicines and implemented 

a revised structure in the Compliance Department. 

We successfully managed the affairs of the IMB 

in line with our statutory obligation that income at 

least meets costs.

Ireland is a key global location for the 

pharmaceutical/biopharmaceutical industry and is 

now the largest exporter of pharmaceuticals in the 

world. Over 6,000 medicinal products for human 

use and over 1,000 veterinary medicinal products 

are presently authorised by the IMB. Regulation 

by the IMB of the marketing, manufacture and 

distribution of medicinal products plays a very 

significant role in ensuring that appropriate 

standards are maintained in this sector. This 

includes post marketing surveillance, which 

encompasses pharmacovigilance, investigation 

of reports of quality defects, and a programme 

of sampling and analysis. The IMB has specific 

responsibilities for inspection of services for the 

collection, processing and quality control of blood 

and blood components. This role was extended 

with the implementation, from February 2005, of 

the EU Blood Directive 2002/98/EC.

Ireland is home to 13 of the world’s top 25 medical 

devices companies, and this sector is also rapidly 

increasing its R&D activities. The Irish-based 

medical devices sector employs over 22,000 

people in 110 plants. A total of 428 medical devices 

were registered during 2005, including 326 in 

vitro diagnostic medical devices and 102 general 

medical devices. 

All public health issues relating to devices arising 

during the year were handled effectively and 

efficiently. A major case arose concerning the illegal 

importation and distribution of counterfeit condoms 

onto the Irish market. Following an investigation, 

these products were withdrawn from the market 

Pat O’Mahony, Chief Executive
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and the company involved in the importation and 

distribution was successfully convicted in legal 

proceedings initiated by the IMB. 

Maintaining Ireland’s high status in relation to 

animal health and welfare is of critical importance. 

Central to this is the attainment of the highest 

standards of food safety within production systems 

that are economically, environmentally, ethically 

and socially sustainable. The food industry is a very 

important industry in Ireland with exports of over 5 

billion euro. The regulation of veterinary medicines 

plays a highly significant part in supporting this 

sector: in assisting in the prevention and treatment 

of disease, in enhancing animal welfare and in 

ensuring the safety of foods of animal origin. There 

are significant challenges due to lack of availability 

of certain veterinary medicines in Ireland for minor 

uses or for minor species. The IMB is actively 

involved in assisting to find solutions to this issue. 

A record number of applications for authorisation 

of veterinary medicinal products were approved 

by the IMB in 2005 (see graph below) and we also 

became the competent authority for the licensing 

of veterinary immunological products. All public 

health issues relating to veterinary medicines 

arising during the year were handled efficiently and 

effectively.

TOTal OuTpuT Of all applICaTIONS IN ThE 

vETErINary MEdICINES dEparTMENT �00� 

TO �00�

A major item noted in the 2002 annual report was 

the approval by the Board of the IMB’s three-

year IT strategic plan embracing both information 

technology and organisational change. The 

entire programme of work is known as nIMBus. 

Considerable progress has been made in the 

implementation of this plan. The IT component 

has been rolled out on schedule and under budget, 

and we implemented the new organisational 

arrangements in the Human Medicines Department 

from June 2003. Performance in the restructured 

Human Medicines Department consistently 

improved each month from June to December 

2003; this enhanced performance was consolidated 

in 2004, with more than double the output of 

product assessments compared to any other year 

since the IMB was established in 1996, and this 

position was consolidated further in 2005. (See 

graph below). Up to 30% of this improvement was 

as a result of the implementation of enhanced 

IT systems, and the remaining 70% was due 

to changes in management, process and work 

practices. The historical backlog in variation and 

renewal applications was eliminated by year-end 

and the backlog in new national applications will be 

dealt with by mid 2006. This enhanced output level 

will be sustained as the structures and processes 

are consolidated and the IT support further 

developed. 

This is a credit to the management and staff 

involved directly, or indirectly by way of support 

services. 

TOTal OuTpuT Of all applICaTIONS IN ThE 

huMaN MEdICINES dEparTMENT frOM �00� 

TO �00�

Output in the inspection and certification areas 

continued and a licence was issued to the largest 

bio-pharmaceutical manufacturing site in the world. 

Enforcement activity continued and a number of 

high profile cases proceeded through the courts 

following initiation by the IMB.

0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200

Total Output 2003
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In line with increased activity in the organisation, 

the Finance and Corporate Affairs Department 

provided an increased output across all headings 

during 2005. This department is responsible for 

the building renovation project which is underway. 

The Human Resources function had its busiest 

year ever in recruitment and training. An internal 

financial audit function was established during 

2005 reporting directly to the audit subcommittee 

of the Board, in compliance with good corporate 

governance requirements.

The IT and Change Management Department 

also provided for increased output during the 

year. New staff received training and IT support 

as required. The significant programme of IT 

investment (nIMBus) has contributed considerable 

improvements in output in the human medicines 

assessment area. The project cost will be 

recovered in just over four years. nIMBus will 

now be rolled out to the Veterinary Medicines 

Department and the Compliance Department and 

will add additional value. Significant interest has 

been shown by regulatory agencies throughout 

Europe in the IMB IT innovation. We have also 

expanded our use of tele and video-conferencing 

during the year and this provides for significant 

time saving for staff involved in meetings abroad.

IMPLEMENTATION OF 
THE NEW MEDICINES 
LEGISLATION AND QMS
2005 saw the initiation of a very significant 

programme at the IMB to prepare for the 

implementation of new revised medicines 

legislation. This involved many colleagues in-

house and consultations with colleagues from the 

European Commission, EMEA and throughout 

the network of medicines agencies in the EEA, 

as well as the Department of Health and Children 

and Department of Agriculture and Food. The 

Department of Agriculture and Food implemented 

revised Animal Remedies Regulations by the 

November deadline and a series of revised 

regulations on human medicines were at an 

advanced stage at year end. The IMB was fully 

prepared for the provisions of the new legislation. 

Great credit is due to all IMB staff involved for 

completing this substantial programme, which 

was co-ordinated by Dr. Caitríona Fisher, Quality 

Manager. Along with this work significant 

progress was also made in the implementation 

of an IMB-wide quality system. Procedures were 

installed in the Finance and Corporate Affairs area. 

Developments in 2006 will include rollout of QMS 

into the authorisation processes.

THE EUROPEAN 
MEDICINES REGULATORy 
SySTEM
The IMB continued to participate actively in the 

European Medicines Regulatory System in 2005 

through its involvement in committees and working 

parties. We contribute very actively at the Heads 

of Medicines Agencies (HMA) level and at EMEA 

Management Board. We continue to provide part of 

the Permanent Secretariat to the HMA. We were 

also engaged in the assessment of centralised 

products as rapporteur and as reference member 

state in the mutual-recognition and decentralised 

procedures, and continued to meet all timelines 

in these procedures in 2005. Agreements were 

signed with the US FDA and the UK MHRA for 

early exchange of safety information, covering 

medicines and medical devices.

The IMB also continued to represent Ireland at the 

European Pharmacopoeia, and Dr. Mike Morris, 

Senior Scientific Advisor, continued in the role of 

President of the Pharmacopoeia. During 2005, Dr. 

Morris delivered on a range of significant technical 

projects for the IMB.

Dr. Caitríona Fisher, 
Quality Manager 
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Information technology continues to be an 

important topic on the EU agenda. The IMB’s 

Information Technology (IT) Department was 

actively involved in EU information technology 

implementation groups during 2005.

THE EUROPEAN MEDICAL 
DEVICES REGULATORy 
SySTEM
2005 was another very busy year in the European 

Medical Devices regulatory system and a large 

number of meetings were attended at EU level. 

The demands in this area are under review at 

European Commission level.

STRATEGIC PLAN
The IMB 3-year Strategic Plan for the years 2004 to 

2006 sets out the following primary objectives:

n Effective risk management and improving 

consumer safety 

n Effective regulation through the on-going 

development of our work force and non-staff 

resources 

n Effective communication with all stakeholders 

and empowerment of consumers through 

better information.

This document is published on our web site 

(www.imb.ie). A new strategic plan will be 

developed at the end of 2006. 

OFFICE ACCOMMODATION
As reported last year, with the approval of the 

Department of Health and Children and Department 

of Finance, the Board succeeded in purchasing 

our present building in December 2004. In May 

2005, the building was named Kevin O’Malley 

House to honour Professor Kevin O’Malley for 

his very considerable contribution to medicines 

regulation in Ireland by his participation over 27 

years on the Board and committees of the IMB and 

its predecessor, the NDAB. We were privileged 

to have the Tánaiste and Minister for Health and 

Children officiate at the dedication ceremony. A 

refurbishment programme for the building has 

been approved by the Board.

ONGOING 
RESTRUCTURING

Restructuring continued in 2005
The reorganisation of the Compliance Department, 

which was initiated in 2004, continued to be 

a major project for 2005. Significant structural 

Pictured (l-r) at the renaming ceremony of the IMB Headquarters 
as Kevin O’Malley House are Pat O’Mahony, Chief Executive, 
IMB, An Tánaiste and Minister for Health and Children, Mary 
Harney T.D., and Pat O’Mahony, Chairman, IMB. 

Dr. Mike Morris, 
Senior Scientific Advisor

Pictured (l-r) at the signing of the agreement with the US FDA 
is Mac Lumpkin, FDA with Pat O’Mahony, Chief Executive, IMB. 
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and operational changes were made within 

the department during the year and a business 

process-engineering project was also initiated. 

The new organisational arrangements within the 

department have already delivered considerable 

operational benefits and we look forward to further 

achievements in this area during 2006.

The second project, again commenced in 

2004, focussed on the development of the 

Pharmacovigilance Section within the Human 

Medicines Department. The Board approved the 

revised staffing arrangements in May 2005 and 

the management structure was established by the 

end of the year. This project will continue to run 

throughout 2006. 

In the last quarter of 2005 a project focussing on the 

future needs of the Medical Devices Department 

was initiated. The aim of this review was to define 

the required activity levels and to ensure that the 

resources are available to deliver the essential 

services provided by the department. The findings 

of the review will be considered by the Board in mid 

2006 and then referred to the Department of Health 

and Children which funds this activity.

COMMUNICATIONS
During the year, the Board continued to enhance its 

communication with various groups with an interest 

in healthcare products. Information days for human 

medicines and compliance industry stakeholders 

were held. These meetings attracted a large number 

of attendees and positive feedback was received.

A number of other meetings with organisations and 

individuals with particular interests in healthcare 

products were hosted by the IMB during the year. 

These included meetings with the Animal & Plant 

Health Association (APHA), the Association of 

Pharmaceutical Manufacturers of Ireland (APMI), 

the Irish Association of Health Stores (IAHS), the 

Irish Health Trade Association (IHTA), the Irish 

Medical Devices Association (IMDA), the Irish 

Pharmaceutical Healthcare Association (IPHA), and 

the Irish Pharmaceutical and Chemical Manufacturers 

Federation (IPCMF), now Pharmachemical Ireland.

PUBLICATIONS
The IMB launched a number of valuable guidance 

documents as part of its communications efforts 

during 2005, all of which are available from our 

website. 

A number of editions of the IMB’s Medicinal 

Products Newsletter, Medical Devices Newsletter 

and Drug Safety Newsletter were published and are 

available on the IMB website.

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION
Nine requests were received under the Freedom 

of Information Act in 2005, the same number as in 

2004. This compares with 28 in 2003.

THE FUTURE 
We face a variety of challenges for 2006.

We await the formal enactment of the revised 

medicines legislation on human medicines. A 

considerable amount of effort is still required 

to implement all the various provisions, and we 

will have to critically monitor the efficient use of 

resources required for any additional requirements

The overall workload, including the numbers of 

applications, continues to increase and ensuring 

adequate staffing and resources to meet all these 

demands is a particular challenge. The apparently 

ever-increasing number of meetings at EMEA and 

Commission level continues to pose challenges and 

we continue to strive to reduce the impact of this by 

maximising the use of tele and video-conferencing 

facilities. 

Professor Kevin O’Malley (centre) is pictured at the renaming 
ceremony of the IMB Headquarters with Pat O’Mahony, Chief 
Executive, IMB (left) and An Tánaiste and Minister for Health 
and Children, Mary Harney T.D.(right). 
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We look forward to completing the implementation 

of the development studies in both compliance 

and pharmacovigilance areas and to presenting the 

findings of the study on medical devices. As the 

Department of Health and Children funds the devices 

area, ensuring adequate resources for a revised 

structure will be a challenge.

We will maintain the impetus for change across 

the organisation and continue to manage change to 

assist us in delivering higher standards of output to 

all stakeholders. 

We will continue to develop our performance 

management system, and will conduct a review 

of this later in 2006. We will continue to train and 

develop staff so that we have the skills set required 

for the ever-changing and ever more complex areas 

we regulate. 

We will continue the roll out of our IT strategic plan 

and linked organisational change during 2006, which 

will transform our information technology systems 

and assessment activity with consequential major 

benefits to the IMB and its stakeholders. We plan a 

complete redesign of our website in 2006. 

We will continue to review our funding provision and 

to look critically at our own cost base to ensure we 

are maximising use of resources. 

The formal transfer of responsibilities from the 

Department of Health and Children in the area of 

controlled drugs had been anticipated for 2003. While 

we are already delivering services in this area, we 

now expect this to formally transfer during late 2006. 

In 2006 we will become the Competent Authority 

for Ireland for the Tissues and Cells Directive and are 

looking at the feasibility of taking on responsibility for 

regulation of cosmetic products. 

BOARD AND STAFF 
MATTERS
In total over 100 people contribute voluntarily to the 

work of the IMB through the Board and committees. 

2005 marked the end of the five year term of office 

for the Board and the Advisory Committees for 

Human and Veterinary Medicines, and the various 

related subcommittees. I express my appreciation 

and gratitude for the help and advice of all these 

colleagues who have given so generously of their 

time and expertise throughout 2005 and indeed 

over the previous five year period. At year end, a 

new Board and committees were appointed by 

the Tánaiste and Minister for Health and Children 

for the five years 2006 to 2010. I look forward to 

working with all those appointed and thank them for 

accepting their roles within the IMB structure. Mr Pat 

O’Mahony was reappointed Chairman of the Board. 

The term of office of the Advisory Committee 

for Medical Devices overlaps that of the other 

committees and the existing committee continues 

in office for a further two years. I express my 

appreciation and gratitude for the help and advice of 

all these colleagues for their assistance during the 

year. 

I acknowledge the support of the staff of the 

Department of Health and Children, and Department 

of Agriculture and Food for the work of the IMB. 

I wish to welcome all new staff members who joined 

during 2005 and to express my personal appreciation 

to all the staff of the IMB for their continued 

generous support in achieving the Board’s objectives 

during the year. I look forward to the support of all 

staff in dealing effectively with the various challenges 

ahead, as we continue to strive for excellence in all 

aspects of our daily activities.

pat O’Mahony 

Chief Executive
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huMaN MEdICINES dEparTMENT

INTRODUCTION
The Human Medicines Department had a very 

successful year in 2005. Safety monitoring 

continued to be a core priority and 2005 saw an 

increase in work volumes in new product licensing, 

variations, renewals and pharmacovigilance 

activities. The benefits from the major change 

programme initiated during 2003 were again 

evident with an increase in the number of licence 

applications processed as compared with previous 

years.

LICENSING

New Products 
During 2005, the IMB output for new product 

applications was 942. This comprised 328 new 

nationals, 318 new EU mutual-recognition (MR), 29 

new EU centralised* and 267 transfer applications.

(*Total number of centralised applications complete 

in 2005, not all may be authorised by the European 

Commission at this point)

The following table illustrates the output level for 

new product applications over the last number of 

years:

TOTal OuTpuT fOr NEw applICaTIONS

While this represents an increase on previous 

years, the IMB continues to place a high priority 

on reducing the backlog of national applications. 

The total number of applications still in progress 

decreased to 318 in December 2005 from a total of 

495 applications in progress in December 2004. 

The median time for new product authorisations 

issued (excluding transfers) in 2005 was 27 weeks, 

which is an improvement on the 2004 figure of 34 

weeks. This reflects the significant improvements 

in timelines by the IMB in 2005.

Variations
During the year, there was an output of 15,267 

variations to product authorisations for products 

authorised through the national or MR systems. 

Dr. Joan Gilvarry, Director of Human Medicines

0 200 400 600 800 1,000

2002

682

683

749

942

2003 2004 2005



Irish Medicines Board Annual Report 2005 Irish Medicines Board Annual Report 2005

��

This was a substantial increase over previous years 

as indicated below. Type 1 applications increased 

by 32% and Type II applications by 14%.

TOTal OuTpuT fOr varIaTION applICaTIONS

Renewals
During the year, there was an output of 1,328 

renewals to product authorisations for products 

authorised through the national or MR systems. 

This represents a minor increase over 2004 and a 

sustained level of increased output as achieved in 

that year as indicated below:

TOTal OuTpuT fOr rENEwal applICaTIONS

Clinical Trials
During 2005, 119 applications to conduct clinical 

trials were approved by the IMB. This represents 

a similar figure to that of 2003 as depicted in the 

table below. 

The increase during 2004 can be explained by the 

increased number of applications received prior to 

the implementation of the Clinical Trials Directive. 

Also in 2005, there was an output of 368 clinical 

trial amendment applications.

During 2005, the input of all applications continued 

to rise. This was matched by an increase in the 

output as depicted by the graph below. 

applICaTION INpuT aNd OuTpuT OvErvIEw

PHARMACOVIGILANCE
During 2005, the IMB received a total of 1,861 

suspected adverse drug reaction (ADR) reports 

occurring in Ireland from healthcare professionals 

and pharmaceutical companies.

The IMB greatly appreciates and acknowledges 

the important contribution of busy healthcare 

professionals in reporting suspected ADRs, 

facilitating the continued surveillance of the safety 

of medicinal products through the voluntary 

reporting system. While the burdensome nature 

of form-filling is recognised, the collection and 

evaluation of these reports is essential to ensure 

continuous surveillance of the safety of marketed 

medicinal products.

During 2005, the IMB continued to encourage 

adverse reaction reporting and provided regular 

reminders about reporting in the Drug Safety 

Newsletter and our regular publication in 

MIMS (Ireland). A number of presentations on 

pharmacovigilance and ADR reporting were 

made to healthcare professionals as part of post-

graduate training courses or continuing education 

programmes.
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BrEakdOwN Of adr rEpOrTS By SOurCE

Marketing Authorisation Holders 856 

General Practitioners  322

Community Care Doctors 183

Hospital Doctors 152

Clinical Trials 127

Nurses  110

Hospital Pharmacists  60 

Community Pharmacists  45

Dentists  6

Total  �,���

All cases were followed up with feedback 

information provided to reporters, as appropriate. 

Relevant reports (i.e. all serious, suspected 

cases) notified directly to the IMB by healthcare 

professionals were forwarded to the appropriate 

marketing authorisation holders (MAHs) and the 

European Medicines Agency (EMEA) within the 

agreed timeframes and formats. The IMB also 

continued to provide details of reports received to 

the WHO on a monthly basis, for inclusion on their 

international database.

Drugs withdrawn for safety reasons
In April 2005, the authorisation for valdecoxib 

(Bextra) was suspended by the MAH from all 

worldwide markets as a precautionary measure. 

This issue, together with overall concerns relating 

to Cox-2 selective inhibitors, was addressed in the 

20th Edition of the IMB’s Drug Safety Newsletter 

(April 2005), see below.

Review of Pharmacovigilance activities 

at the IMB
Further to re-structuring of other departments 

at the IMB (Human Medicines and the former 

Inspectorate), it was considered appropriate 

to undertake a business development study of 

the Pharmacovigilance Section, to enhance its 

integration particularly with the Human Medicines 

and the Compliance Departments. It was also 

undertaken in the context of the additional emphasis 

on pharmacovigilance arising from the revised 

pharmaceuticals legislation, which came into force 

in October and November 2005, as well as vigilance-

related activities arising from implementation of the 

Blood Directive.

The study took place between January and 

May 2005, involving a series of interviews 

and workshops to assess the current level of 

pharmacovigilance activities, the drivers for these 

activities, the additional requirements arising from 

the new legislation and the associated resource 

implications.

The study resulted in a proposed new structure for 

pharmacovigilance, with an emphasis on integration 

with the management team in the Human 

Medicines Department. The new structure proposes 

a re-organisation of current work practices to 

provide for two overall core areas of activity, market 

surveillance and pharmacovigilance assessment, 

with an increase in the level and technical capability 

of the group’s resources. Results of the study and 

its recommendations were approved by the Board 

at its meeting on 29 June 2005 and implementation 

of the revised structure is currently underway.

CHMP Pharmacovigilance Working 

Party (PhVWP)
There were a total of eleven meetings of the 

CHMP’s PhVWP during 2005. During these 

meetings the PhVWP considered product-related 

issues at the request of the CHMP. These 

included centrally-authorised products, products 

subject to referral procedures and nationally 

authorised products. Product related issues were 

also considered at the request of the competent 

authorities of the Member States. 

The PhVWP continued its regular interaction with 

the FDA through tele and videoconferences held 

during working party meetings. 

A detailed revision of Volume 9 – Pharmacovigilance 

(Medicinal Products for Human and Veterinary 

use) was undertaken to reflect the revised and 

additional responsibilities arising from the revised 

EU legislation, which came into force on 31 October 

2005 and 20 November 2005.

PhVWP drafting groups continued to review and 

develop guidance on other organisational issues and 

to consider relevant class-related effects.
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The IMB continued its active participation in the 

EudraVigilance Project. IMB staff participated at 

meetings organised by the EMEA throughout 

the year and moved into full production with 

EudraVigilance in November 2005. Testing of 

electronic transmission of adverse reaction reports 

and SUSARs between the IMB and participating 

companies/sponsors is ongoing and a move to the 

production phase is expected with a number of 

companies/sponsors by the end of Q1 2006.

Information was provided in respect of all 

requests circulated via the Rapid Alert/Non-Urgent 

Information exchange system by other Member 

States. All relevant, suspected serious Irish adverse 

reaction reports notified to the IMB were provided 

to the EMEA at the designated intervals throughout 

the year.

Publications
One issue of the IMB’s Drug Safety Newsletter 

was circulated to doctors, dentists and pharmacists 

in June 2005, which included an overview of 

the safety issues associated with the cyclo-

oxygenase (Cox-2) selective inhibitors. A copy 

of the newsletter and updates on safety issues 

considered to be of public health interest which 

were published on the IMB’s regular page in MIMS 

(Ireland) during the year are available from the 

publications section of the IMB’s website 

(www.imb.ie).

Company Liaison
Advice on IMB pharmacovigilance reporting 

requirements was provided to MAHs on request 

throughout the year. Anonymised ADR data was 

provided to MAHs in respect of their products 

for cumulative data on request and in the case of 

individual serious suspected ADRs associated with 

use of their products, on an expedited basis.

Haemovigilance
The IMB actively participated in the Steering 

Committee established by the Department of 

Health and Children to oversee implementation 

of Council Directive 2002/98/EC and Commission 

Directive 2005/61/EC.

On the 12th July the Minister for Health and 

Children signed SI 360 of 2005, which is the 

statutory instrument transposing the above EU 

Directives.

ISO 15189, the specified quality system for hospital 

blood banks, does not cover Articles 14 and 15 

(Traceability and Haemovigilance) of the Blood 

Directive. Hence, an expert group was established 

by the IMB and INAB (Irish National Accreditation 

Board) to define requirements that need to be 

added to ISO 15189 to ensure that blood banks are 

fully compliant with the Blood Directive.

In addition to discussion of haemovigilance 

activities by the Department of Health and Children 

Steering Committee, the IMB also continued its 

regular meetings with the National Haemovigilance 

Office to review haemovigilance events reported, 

discuss issues of mutual concern and to consider 

further developments to facilitate monitoring and 

revised working practices necessary to meet the 

provisions of the above EU and national legislation.
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vETErINary MEdICINES dEparTMENT

INTRODUCTION
The year under review was an extremely busy 

and productive year for the Veterinary Medicines 

Department. Key achievements during the period 

included:

n	Completion of the task of uploading the 

Summaries of Product Characteristics (SPCs) 

of all authorised veterinary medicinal products 

onto the IMB website, 

n	Authorisation of a record number of applications 

during the year,

n	Maintenance of key targets for the timely 

authorisation of veterinary medicinal products, 

n	Roll out of the IMB’s quality management 

system to applications for classification enquiry. 

On behalf of the organisation and in fulfilment of 

a commitment given under the Irish Presidency 

of the EU in 2004, the Veterinary Medicines 

Department hosted a training meeting for 

assessors from the European Economic Area in 

Dublin on 21 and 22 September 2005. The IMB 

held several meetings with stakeholders during 

2005, including meetings with interested parties 

on 2 December 2005, as well as bilateral meetings 

with individual stakeholders throughout the year. 

Veterinary staff also provided several updates 

on veterinary medicines and their regulation to 

professional journals during the year. In November, 

the IMB became the competent authority for the 

authorisation of veterinary immunologicals, as has 

been the case for veterinary pharmaceuticals since 

its inception.

PUBLIC AND ANIMAL 
HEALTH ISSUES
The IMB provided input to the Department of 

Agriculture and Food in relation to the Animal 

Remedies Regulations, 2005, which were signed 

into law in November. The new regulations 

require marketing authorisation holders (MAHs) to 

change the method of supply for intramammary 

antibiotics and for products restricted to use by 

veterinary practitioners. Further changes to the 

method of supply of a wide range of veterinary 

medicines used in food-producing animals is 

expected during 2006, pending the outcome of 

discussions between Department of Agriculture 

and Food and the EU Commission in relation to the 

implementation of Directive 2004/28/EC.

Dr. J. Gabriel Beechinor, Director of Veterinary Medicines
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The Veterinary Medicines Department is pleased to 

report that following discussions with stakeholders 

on the unavailability of veterinary medicines in 

Ireland which are licensed elsewhere in the EU, 

positive progress has been made in encouraging 

applicant companies to apply for authorisation for 

a number of veterinary medicines for infrequent 

use. However, it is recognised that despite the IMB 

provision of fee reductions for applicants to license 

such medicines, the economic climate for the 

animal health industry continues to be challenging.

COMMUNICATIONS
The Veterinary Medicines Department continued 

to invest considerable time in both internal 

and external communications during the year. 

Amongst the most notable achievements of the 

Department was the publication of Summaries of 

Product Characteristics (SPCs) for all the authorised 

veterinary medicines on the market in Ireland. This 

achievement serves to highlight the increased use 

of the IMB website as a means of ensuring up-to-

date information on medicines is available to the 

public. 

The IMB continues to communicate with client 

companies in respect of general matters primarily 

through the newsletter and via bilateral discussions 

with the Animal and Plant Health Association 

(APHA). 

As in previous years, several meetings with client 

companies and with other stakeholders took place. 

The increased numbers of meetings with the DAF 

and with other stakeholders which took place 

during the year coincided with the finalisation and 

implementation of the new legislation on animal 

remedies. 

During 2005, staff from the Veterinary Medicines 

Department also delivered presentations on the 

regulation of veterinary medicines and related 

matters to veterinary officers from the DAF as well 

as to students in University College Dublin, Trinity 

College Dublin and the Royal College of Surgeons. 

Several news updates and articles were also 

published during the year.

Externally, staff gave presentations on regulatory 

affairs to international meetings in the United 

Kingdom, the Netherlands and Spain, while the 

IMB hosted a meeting for assessors from other 

EU Member States on the evaluation of vaccines 

for fish. The IMB continues to make a significant 

contribution to the work of the EU network of 

medicines agencies. Dr. Beechinor, Director of 

Veterinary Medicines at the IMB, was appointed 

Chairman of a European Task Force on the 

Availability of Veterinary Medicines. This group is 

tasked with furnishing a report on this subject to 

the Heads of Medicines Agencies (HMA) in the EU, 

by February 2007. 

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
During the year under review, the Veterinary 

Medicines Department delivered a record output of 

applications, numbering over 1,000 for the first time 

(see graph below). Given the significant challenges 

to resources during the year, especially considering 

the cost of staff to service non-funded activities 

relating to the new legislation and to service 

requests for advice and resources by the DAF, these 

achievements have been quite remarkable. 

OuTpuT Of applICaTIONS IN ThE 

vETErINary MEdICINES dEparTMENT 

�00�-�00�

Particular performances of note in 2005 include:

n	Further progress on the evaluation of 

immunologicals for under the so-called ‘review’ 

with a further 17 applications being finalised 

during the year. Only 26 applications from a total 

of 152 remain to be finalised. 

n	On time delivery of centralised and mutual 

recognition assessments.
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n	Active participation by staff in the EU network 

for the licensing of veterinary medicines. 

n	Staff from the Veterinary Medicines 

Department being appointed as rapporteur 

or co-rapporteur for six new or extension 

applications for centralised applications under 

the aegis of the European Medicines Agency. 

n	Some 73 classification enquiries were 

processed during the year, compared with 80 

and 92 for 2003 and 2004 respectively.

n	Eight applications for clinical trials processed 

during the year, compare to eight and five in 

2003 and 2004 respectively.

The number of new applications for authorisation 

has been maintained despite the challenging 

times for the animal health industry. The numbers 

of applications for national authorisation only 

continues to approximate those submitted for 

mutual recognition as can be seen from the graph 

below:

aCTIvITy lEvElS ON NEw applICaTIONS 

�00�-�00�

The trend for increasing numbers of variation 

applications has continued during 2005 as 

evidenced from the following graph:

aCTIvITy lEvElS ON varIaTIONS �00�-�00�

The funding model of the Veterinary Medicines 

Department was reviewed during 2005. While the 

IMB is sensitive to the imposition of any increase in 

fees on the animal health industry, the increasingly 

complex requirements for the authorisation of 

veterinary medicines requires increased staff 

resources. 

The IMB is committed to the continual 

improvement of its service levels and expects the 

roll-out of its new computer management system 

to the Veterinary Medicines Department will further 

improve efficiency. 

The IMB is also committed to fairness and 

objectivity in its decision making. It is pleased to 

record the favourable judgement given by Mr. 

Justice Finnegan, President of the High Court, 

on 12th May 2005, in respect of the IMB’s 

authorisation procedures.
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PHARMACOVIGILANCE
The IMB received 84 national reports of suspected 

adverse reactions to veterinary medicinal products 

for the period 1st January 2005 to 31st December 

2005. There were 64 reports from marketing 

authorisation holders, 19 directly from veterinary 

surgeons in practice and one from an animal owner. 

Of the 84 suspected adverse reactions reported, 

one related to the use of human medicinal 

product, one related to the use of an unauthorised 

Veterinary Medicinal Products and a third was 

not considered to be a valid report because the 

primary reporter was not known. Of the remaining 

81 reports, a total of 43 veterinary pharmaceutical 

products and 51 immunological products were 

identified as possibly associated with adverse 

effects. While the majority of reports related to the 

use of single veterinary medicinal products, two or 

more veterinary medicinal products were identified 

in 12 reports. 

Suspected adverse drug reactions were reported 

in the following species: human (four reports), 

canine (25), bovine (21), equine (11), ovine (eight), 

feline (seven), salmon (three), porcine (two) and 

goat (one). One report included information on 

suspected adverse reactions in two different 

species following the use of the same product. 

Of the 81 valid reports associated with the use 

of veterinary medicinal products, 51 related to 

suspected adverse reactions in the treated animals, 

26 related to lack of expected efficacy and four 

cases involved suspected adverse effects in 

individual users following exposure to a veterinary 

medicinal product. A number of reports relating 

to lack of expected efficacy of a treatment for lice 

in salmon suggest the possibility of resistance 

development. Consequently, appropriate 

amendments were made to the label of the 

product in question to highlight the potential for 

resistance development.
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COMplIaNCE dEparTMENT

INTRODUCTION
The review of the structure and staffing carried 

out in 2005 is dealt with in the IT and Change 

Management Chapter and in the Chief Executive’s 

Report. The new structure became fully operational 

during the last quarter of 2005. To reflect the 

evolving breadth of its activities the name of the 

department was changed from Inspectorate to 

Compliance during 2005. Particular credit is due to 

the staff of the department for the flexibility and 

commitment shown by them during the significant 

period of change that was 2005. The out-turn of 

activities for the year is set out in the table below.

lICENSINg aCTIvITIES

NEw lICENCES ISSuEd �00� �00� �00�

New human manufacturer’s licence issued 9 1 �

New veterinary manufacturer’s licence issued 2 2 �

New investigational medicinal products manufacturer’s licence issued N/A 12 ��

New wholesaler’s licence issued * 96 19 �

lICENCE rEvOCaTIONS �00� �00� �00�

Manufacturer of medicinal products for human use 0 0 0

Manufacturer of medicinal products for veterinary use 0 0 0

Wholesaler* 0 0 0

 Manufacturers of investigational medicinal products 0 0 0

Mr John Lynch, Director of Compliance
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varIaTIONS ISSuEd �00� �00� �00�

Human manufacturer’s licence 280 290 �0�

Veterinary manufacturer’s licence 34 92 ��

Wholesaler* 57 47 ��

Manufacturers of investigational medicinal products 0 0 ��

TOTal NuMBEr Of lICENCES �00� �00� �00�

Manufacturers of medicinal products for human use 81 81 ��

Manufacturers of medicinal products for veterinary use 26 29 �0

Manufacturers of investigational medicinal products 0 12 ��

Wholesalers* 89 141 ���

* Includes suppliers to pharmacies and those authorised to distribute to non-pharmacy outlets

prOduCT CErTIfICaTION aCTIvITy �00� �00� �00�

Certification of documents 356 265 �0�

Certificates of free sale 32 11 ��

Certificate of good manufacturing practice for finished product 

manufacturers
172 187 ���

Certificate of good manufacturing practice for active substance 

manufacturers
0 66 ��

Certificate of a pharmaceutical product for human use 1,000 1,026 ���

Certificate of a pharmaceutical product for veterinary use 59 102 ��0

Other 59 37 �0�
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LICENSING 
In 2005, the Licensing Section achieved a zero 

backlog with regard to all applications received 

into the Compliance Department. This included 

the licensing of manufacturers of human and 

veterinary medicinal products, wholesalers, 

and manufacturers of investigational medicinal 

products. A system of company notifications for 

scheduled inspections was implemented giving 

companies a four- week notice period of routine 

inspection. 

The section continues to support the inspection 

activities of the Compliance Department through 

the issuing of a GMP certificate within 90 days 

after a satisfactory inspection as required by the 

revisions to Directives 2001/82/EC and 2001/83/EC.

CONTROLLED DRUG 
LICENSING
The controlled drugs licensing functions were 

successfully integrated into the Compliance 

Department’s Licensing Section in September 

2005. Since that time the Licensing Section 

has been responsible for the management of 

the application and issue processes for all such 

licences, with the Department of Health and 

Children retaining a signatory role for all official 

documentation. 

The IMB will assume formal responsibility for 

granting controlled drug licences once the 

provisions of the IMB (Miscellaneous Provisions) 

Act 2006 are commenced. 

The controlled drugs licences include annual 

licences which authorise the relevant sectors of 

the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries and 

other sectors to produce, supply and/or possess 

a controlled drug, as appropriate. Other licences 

include import and export licences which authorise 

the international trading activities of these sectors.

In total, approximately 1,800 controlled drugs 

licences are issued on an annual basis. The 

Licensing Section will manage the application and 

issue processes using a secure online extranet 

system which has been developed by the IMB. 

The system will enable automated processing for 

the majority of applications and will significantly 

enhance the efficiency of the application and 

issue processes. The use of such technologies for 

management of controlled drugs licensing is novel 

and the IMB is one of the first national authorities 

to make this facility available to the industry.

ExPORT CERTIFICATES
In 2005, 1,789 export certificates were issued. This 

represents a 6% increase on the total for 2004.

EU PROJECTS
In 2005, the Licensing Section and the IT and 

Change Management Department played an 

active role in a project group, EudraGMP, the 

purpose of which is to establish a database 

of all manufacturers of medicinal products in 

the European Economic Area (EEA). This is an 

important project as it will provide the IMB with 

access to up-to-date information on the good 

manufacturing practice (GMP) compliance status 

of all manufacturers. This project will continue 

throughout 2006.

INSPECTIONS

Good Practice Inspections
During the year the IMB consolidated its 

restructuring of the inspections function into four 

sections: Good Manufacturing Practice; Good 

Distribution Practice and Controlled Drugs; Good 

Clinical Practice and Pharmacovigilance and Blood, 

Tissues and Cells. New managers and additional 

inspectors were appointed in all areas. 

Good Manufacturing Practice
GMP inspectors met the high-level target relating 

to the frequency of inspections of manufacturing 

sites. During the year, 73 GMP inspections were 

carried out in Ireland. These included inspections 

relating to new applications and changes to 

manufacturers authorisations as well as routine 

and follow up re-inspections, inspections of active 

substances manufacturers and contract testing 

laboratories. A total of seven foreign inspections 

were performed in the year, five of which were 

carried out on behalf of the European Medicines 

Agency (EMEA). 
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Good Distribution Practice (GDP)/ 

Controlled Drugs
The IMB is responsible for ensuring continued 

compliance and adherence to GDP guidelines. 

During 2005, 70 GDP inspections were conducted 

in Ireland. 

A successful workshop on the GDP and licensing 

issues for wholesalers who supply medicines to 

the retail trade was held in November. 

A series of controlled drugs inspections was carried 

out in conjunction with the Department of Health 

and Children and the Garda National Drugs Unit. In 

total, 26 inspections were conducted.

Inspection activities will expand in 2006 to 

include a scheduled programme of inspection of 

manufacturing, storage and distribution sites for 

controlled drugs licensed sites. 

Good Clinical Practice (GCP)/

Pharmacovigilance Inspections
The IMB is responsible for conducting a statutory 

programme of GCP inspections established by SI 

190 of 2004, European Communities (Clinical Trials 

on Medicinal Products for Human Use) Regulations 

2004 and SI 878 of 2004, European Communities 

(Clinical Trials on Medicinal Products for Human 

Use) (Amendment) Regulations 2004 which give 

effect to Directive 2001/20/EC of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 4 April 2001 (on 

the approximation of the laws, regulations and 

administrative provisions of the Member States 

relating to the implementation of good clinical 

practice in the conduct of clinical trials on medicinal 

products for human use), as well as by the Clinical 

Trials Act 1987 and 1990.

During 2005 the IMB carried out inspections in 

Ireland of pharmaceutical companies (sponsors), 

contract research organisations, and clinical 

research sites that included commercial and non-

commercial research investigators. 

During the year the staff actively participated 

in the development of procedures for EU GCP 

inspections and contributed to the training course 

for European GCP inspectors.

A pharmacovigilance inspection capability was 

also established and a compliance inspection 

programme will start in 2006. 

Blood, Tissues and Cells
The requirements under EU Directive 2002/98/EC 

on quality and safety for blood, transposed by 

SI 360 of 2005, came into force in November 

2005. This legislation requires all sites involved 

in the collection, testing, processing, storage 

and distribution of blood to be inspected and 

licensed. The IMB participated in a programme 

of visits to a number of sites in preparation for 

this and contributed to the drafting of the national 

legislation.

In 2005, the IMB carried out 18 inspections of 

blood establishment sites. 

Continued recruitment and training initiatives were 

conducted to enable the section to implement and 

develop the area of tissues and cells to meet the 

requirements of Directive 2004/23/EC relating to 

the quality and safety of human tissues and cells, 

which is due for implementation by 7th April 2006.

Developing Standards
The Inspections Section continued to play a 

significant part in the Ad Hoc Inspectors’ Meetings 

(GCP and GMP) at the EMEA and within the 

Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation Scheme 

(PIC/S). Inspectors participated in joint visits and 

expert circles on subjects such as computerised 

systems, blood, active pharmaceutical ingredients 

and medicinal gases. The primary aim of these 

activities is to contribute to the harmonisation of 

inspection standards. 

The IMB hosted a PIC/S Joint Inspection Visit 

with inspectors from Norway and Singapore at an 

inspection of an active substance manufacturer. 

The assistance of the manufacturer concerned in 

facilitating this visit is acknowledged.
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INSpECTIONS pErfOrMEd IN �00�

INSpECTION TypES IN �00�

BrEakdOwN Of gMp INSpECTIONS IN �00�

Non-sterile manufacture 39

Sterile manufacture 12

Foreign 7

Investigational medicinal product 6

Active substances 7

Laboratory 2

Total ��

ENFORCEMENT
During 2005, the IMB’s Enforcement Section 

initiated 561 cases involving breaches of medicinal 

product legislation compared to 314 in 2004. The 

closure rate of enforcement cases has increased 

significantly to 77% (430 cases) in 2005, compared 

to 50% (157 cases) in 2004. 

There has been an increasing level of co-operation 

and a greater willingness to comply in some of the 

areas targeted for enforcement action. There was 

a concentration on areas of concern, principally 

internet sales of anabolic steroids.

During 2005, the IMB seized a total of 65,044 

tablets, 17,456 capsules, 2,971 litres of liquids 

and 6,525 g of creams. The active substances 

in products seized included anabolic steroids, 

contraceptives, botulinum toxin, recombinant 

human growth hormone, sildenafil citrate, tadalafil 

and other erectile dysfunction formulations, 

anti-depressants, prescription-level vitamins, 

prescription-only herbs, antibiotics, corticosteroids, 

weight loss products, skin lightening products and 

ephedrine. Additionally, the IMB made a significant 

seizure of counterfeit condoms during 2005. Over 

700,000 counterfeit condoms were seized and 

recalled from the Irish market; one wholesaler 

was convicted on a guilty plea for placing this 

medical device on the Irish market. Another one 

million counterfeit condoms destined for the Irish 

market were intercepted in transit abroad, based 

on intelligence provided by the IMB and the Irish 

Customs Service.

A conviction was recorded against a former 

medical practitioner, his wholesale company 

and an employee for the unauthorised supply of 

prescription only medicinal products.

Four persons were arrested by Gardaí in Dublin in a 

joint IMB/Garda operation on the internet supply of 

anabolic steroids. 

The main sources of unauthorised supply into 

Ireland of unauthorised medicinal products were 

from within the EU (46%), followed by the USA 

(40%). Importations from Africa have dropped 

(4%).

National and international liaison between the IMB 

and other enforcement agencies in Ireland and 

abroad has enabled the IMB to co-operate to stem 

the illegal flow of unauthorised medicinal products 

and medical devices into and out of Ireland.

The IMB contributed actively in September 2005 to 

the Council of Europe’s seminar on ‘Counteracting 

the Counterfeiter’ the ultimate purpose of which is 

the promotion of co-operation between member 

countries and the development of an effective 

legislative framework to counteract the emerging 

threat to public health posed by counterfeiting of 

medicinal products. 
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BrEakdOwN Of BrEaChES By SECTOr �00�

ENfOrCEMENT CaSE dETaIlS

Cases Opened 561

Cases Closed 430

Prosecutions 2

SEIzurES

- Tablets 65,044 

- Capsules 17,456 

- Liquids including ampoules 2,971

- Creams (grams) 6,525 

- Condoms (Counterfeit) 700,000

MARKET COMPLIANCE

Sampling and Analysis of Medicinal 

and Other Products
In 2005, the sampling and analysis programme 

was once again very active with respect to market 

surveillance and compliance work on authorised 

medicinal products, active pharmaceutical 

ingredients, borderline products, as well as 

providing the analytical service for the IMB’s 

enforcement of medicinal product legislation.

A total of 268 medicinal and other product samples 

were analysed or assessed an increase of 28% 

over 2004. Of these, 141 samples were sent 

for laboratory analysis and 127 samples were 

assessed internally within the IMB for packaging 

and labelling compliance. 

ANALyTICAL TESTING
The table below details the sample types sent 

for analytical testing in 2005. The amount of 

analytical testing carried out in 2005 increased by 

approximately 23% over 2004: 

product categories sent for 

analytical testing

Number 

of 

samples 

analysed

Active pharmaceutical ingredients 

Nationally authorised medicinal 

products

Medicinal products authorised via 

the mutual recognition procedure

Centrally authorised medicinal 

products

Products manufactured in Ireland 

for export only

Products associated with quality 

defects and/or recall issues

Microbiological analysis

Enforcement product samples

4

15 

13 

18 

16 

2 

1

72

TOTal ���

Packaging and Labelling Assessment
A total of 127 authorised medicinal and other 

products were sampled from the Irish marketplace 

for the purpose of having those products assessed, 

by Market Compliance and other appropriate IMB 

staff, for packaging and labelling compliance. This 

represented an increase of 48% over 2004. The 

table overleaf provides a breakdown of the type 

and numbers of products assessed.

Advert 4%

Manufacture 0%
Wholesale 3%

Other 4%

Import 40%

Retail 49%
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description of products assessed Number of 

samples 

assessed

Risk based compliance monitoring 

of authorised medicinal products

91

Products associated with quality 

defects and/or recall issues

4

Products associated with IMB 

Classification Committee work

32

Total ���

Participation in EU Sampling and 

Analysis Activities
The IMB also actively participated in a number 

of EU wide market surveillance and compliance 

work programmes in 2005. Participation in such 

programmes is extremely beneficial, because 

it significantly increases the amount of market 

surveillance and compliance work that can be 

carried out, and promotes work sharing practices 

among competent authorities, whilst reducing 

duplication of effort.

This work included: 

n Sampling by the IMB of three centrally 

authorised medicinal products from the Irish 

market for testing by Official Medicines Control 

Laboratories (OMCLs) in other Member States

n Analysis by the IMB of a centrally authorised 

product sampled in other Member States. 

n Participation in a major European market 

surveillance exercise designed to investigate 

whether counterfeit packs of a particular 

centrally authorised medicinal product were 

present within the EU marketplace (this 

exercise is currently on-going). 

n Analysis of thirteen products authorised 

via the mutual recognition procedure. The 

IMB collaborated with the UK Medicines 

and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency 

(MHRA) in the analysis of four of these 

products.

Principal Findings from the 2005 

Sampling and Analysis Programme
n 11 authorised medicinal products were found 

to be out-of-specification, involving a total of 23 

individual non-compliant test results

n 9 analytical test methods were found to be 

deficient, and involved a total of 23 individual 

analytical method deficiencies. 

The above issues were the subject of investigative 

and follow-up activities with the marketing 

authorisation holders or manufacturers concerned. 

A number of issues relating to packaging and 

labelling non-compliances were forwarded to the 

IMB’s quality defects and product recall programme 

for additional investigation. 

A Message to Industry
The IMB would again like to advise product 

authorisation holders, medicinal product 

manufacturers and active pharmaceutical ingredient 

manufacturers that analytical test methods should 

be sufficiently detailed and clearly described so as 

to enable any official laboratory using the analytical 

method to check the compliance status of the 

product or active pharmaceutical ingredient in 

question.

In addition, analytical test methods should include 

a clear description of how identification and 

quantification tests are carried out. Furthermore, 

analytical test methods used at the site of 

manufacture must correspond to those registered 

with the competent authority. 

The IMB would like to advise those who deal with 

IMB requests for sampling and analysis supporting 

items to ensure that all of the items (such as 

analytical test methods, reference standards, 

certificates of analysis, sample chromatograms, 

etc.), as requested, are in fact provided. The 

items required are detailed on the IMB’s Request 

for Sampling & Analysis Supporting Items form, 

which is sent by Compliance to companies when 

requesting items for market surveillance work. If 

any assistance or clarification is needed before the 

items requested are dispatched, please contact the 

Compliance Department.
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Quality Defects in Human and 

Veterinary Medicinal Products
A total of 327 quality defects in human (314) and 

veterinary (13) medicinal products were reported 

to, or identified by, the Market Compliance Section 

in 2005. This represents a marginal increase of 

5% over the number of Quality Defect reports 

received, or identified, in 2004. 

The table below illustrates how these were 

classified by IMB, and, for comparison, the 

corresponding figures for previous years are also 

presented. 

yEar �00� �00� �00�

Minor quality defects 102 80 �0

Major quality defects 147 167 ���

Critical quality defects 39 50 ��

Number of quality 

defect reports not 

justified

10 13 ��

Total number quality 

defects reported/

identified for the year

298 310 ���

A number of the quality defect reports received 

or identified in 2005 resulted in batch or product 

recalls being requested by the IMB, and a 

number resulted in the issuance of ‘Rapid Alert 

Notifications of a quality defect’ to other competent 

authorities by the IMB. A number of ‘Caution in 

Use Notifications’ and ‘Dear Doctor Letters’ were 

also issued to healthcare professionals in cases 

where cautionary advice on the use of a medicinal 

product was required. In addition, a number of IMB 

Safety Alerts were issued to various professional 

bodies and trade representative groups in Ireland 

as a precautionary measure, in order to alert these 

bodies/groups and their members to the fact 

that potentially harmful, unauthorised medicinal 

products had been notified to the IMB by other 

Competent Authorities, and could be on the market 

in Ireland. 

As detailed in the table above, 66 reports of critical 

quality defects were received, or identified in 2005. 

This represents a 32% increase over 2004 figures. 

While this is an area of concern, following detailed 

investigations it was determined that only 15 of 

the 66 reports related to products which affected 

Ireland, i.e., they were either on the Irish market or 

manufactured in Ireland. The remaining 51 reports, 

which were determined as not affecting Ireland, 

were received mainly from other competent 

authorities through the rapid alert notification 

system. 

Of the 15 critical quality defects which affected 

Ireland, 14 concerned medicinal products for 

human use and one related to a veterinary 

medicinal product. The critical quality defects which 

affected Ireland are summarised below;

n Four of these critical quality defect issues 

concerned a lack of sterility assurance;

- Three batches of a product for inhalation had 

been distributed on the Irish market on an 

unauthorised basis as per Article 4(b) of SI 

142, Medicinal Products (Licensing and Sale) 

Regulations, 1998. The affected batches 

were recalled to hospital pharmacy level 

and prescribing physicians were requested 

to report any adverse drug reactions which 

could have been related to the product not 

being sterile. 
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- A recall to patient level of a patient specific 

infusion product was carried out. For the 

units which had been infused, a letter 

was issued to the prescribing physician 

requesting the close monitoring of the 

patients concerned, and a follow-up 

inspection at the manufacturing site was 

carried out. 

- In relation to one batch of a 

radiopharmaceutical product, consultant 

radiologists were notified of the issue, and 

were requested to monitor their patients 

as appropriate. A follow-up inspection was 

carried out to further investigate the issue. 

- A recall to hospital pharmacy level of a 

number of batches of a suspension for 

injection was carried out.

n	Five of the critical quality defect issues 

were associated with product contamination 

concerns:

- On request from the Food Safety Authority 

of Ireland, the IMB assisted with the co-

ordination of the recall of a powdered infant 

formula product which was microbiologically 

contaminated. 

- In relation to the discovery of a foreign 

object in the packaging material of a powder 

for oral solution, an investigation was unable 

to identify the source of the foreign object, 

however it was established that it could not 

have entered the pack in question during 

the manufacture, packaging or wholesaling 

stages. 

- In relation to the discovery of a metal 

fragment embedded in a solid dose product, 

the investigation identified the fragment as 

a component of the production equipment 

used. It was concluded that this was an 

isolated incident, and no recall action was 

carried out within the countries to which 

the product had been distributed. The 

manufacturer implemented corrective 

actions aimed at preventing a recurrence of 

the defect. 

- A particulate contamination issue was 

identified with one unit of an infusion 

product. The unit was recalled and 

customers who received units from the 

affected batch were contacted to establish 

the extent of the defect. The manufacturer 

confirmed that no other reports were 

received for the batch and no further action 

was requested.

- A number of batches of an aseptically 

prepared hospital/clinic product were the 

subject of a particulate contamination 

issue. The product was manufactured in 

Ireland and distributed to the US, Canada, 

Germany, Denmark and South Korea. The 

affected batches were recalled in these 

countries and the IMB carried out a follow-

up inspection at the manufacturing site. 

n	Three iron-containing products were associated 

with an inconsistency concerning the 

recommended dose for the treatment of iron 

deficiency in infants. A variation to the product 

authorisation was approved by the IMB to 

implement the correct dosing instructions. 

In addition, a Dear Doctor Letter/Caution-In-

Use Notification was issued to healthcare 

professionals to alert them of the issue. 

n	Transportation of one batch of a solid dosage 

product was not compliant with the specified 

cold chain requirements. The affected batch 

was manufactured in Ireland and distributed in 

Slovenia. A recall to pharmacy level was carried 

out in Slovenia.

n	Following suspension of use of an unauthorised 

injectable product pending a review of clinical 

trial data, a voluntary recall was undertaken. 

The product was used on an unauthorised basis 

in Ireland under medical supervision. The recall 

was executed on a global basis by the company 

concerned.

n	A number of unlabelled vials from one batch of 

a solution for injection were distributed on the 

Irish market. A recall to veterinary surgeon level 

was carried out to retrieve all unused units.
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In 2005, 24% of the total number of quality defects 

reported and identified concerned packaging and 

labelling issues. This was also the most prevalent 

category of quality defect in 2004.

Other quality defect investigations related to 

product safety concerns, non-compliance with 

specification issues, product contamination 

issues, stability issues, and issues concerning 

unauthorised products on the Irish market. The 

chart below provides details of the areas of quality 

defects for both human and veterinary medicines.

rEpOrTS Of huMaN MEdICINal prOduCT 

qualITy dEfECTS CaME frOM ThE 

fOllOwINg SOurCES: 

rEpOrTS Of vETErINary MEdICINal 

prOduCT qualITy dEfECTS CaME frOM ThE 

fOllOwINg SOurCES:

In 2005, there was an increased level of quality 

defect reporting in relation to medicinal products 

for human use by companies (marketing 

authorisation holders, manufacturers and 

wholesalers). However, the number of quality 

defects reported by pharmacists in 2005 decreased 

somewhat in comparison to previous years, 

and we would like to take this opportunity to 

encourage pharmacists to report any suspected 

quality defects to the IMB. The postage paid 

Quality Defect Report Card is a convenient manner 

for pharmacists to report quality defects to the 

IMB. These report cards are available on request 

from the Market Compliance Section. To facilitate 

reporting in this area it is planned to introduce on-

line quality defect reporting. Stakeholders will be 

informed in advance.

Recalls of Human and Veterinary 

Medicinal Products
The Market Compliance Section co-ordinates 

the IMB’s activities in relation to recalls of both 

human and veterinary medicinal products. A 

total of 74 recalls of medicinal products were 

requested by the IMB during 2005; 68 of these 

recalls related to human medicinal products and 6 

related to veterinary medicinal products. The illegal 

distribution of unauthorised products, product 

safety concerns, and packaging and labelling issues 

were the largest contributors to the total number of 

recalls. 

In 2005, 87 recall notifications were received from 

Competent Authorities in other countries. Each 

of these reports was investigated to establish the 

potential implications for the Irish market. The 

investigations carried out concluded that 7 of these 

recall notifications affected Ireland. The remaining 

80 recall notifications were ultimately determined 

to not affect the Irish market. 

Community Pharmacists 4%

Other Component Authorities 30%

Companies (manufacturers,
distributors, and/or PA holders) 44%

Patients and/or members of the public 1%

Hospital Pharmacists  6%
Health Service Executive 1%

IMB Staff Members 14%

Department of
Agriculture and Food 38%

Companies (Manufacturers,
Distributors and/or VPA holders) 31%

IMB Staff members 8%

Other Competent
Authorities 23%



Irish Medicines Board Annual Report 2005

�0

Irish Medicines Board Annual Report 2005

n	Recalls of Medicinal Products for Human Use:

The following tables illustrate the total number and category of recalls of medicinal products for human 

use which took place in Ireland in 2005, compared to previous years.

huMaN MEdICINal prOduCT rECallS:

year �00� �00� �00�

Total number 62 63 68

BrEakdOwN Of huMaN MEdICINal prOduCT rECallS:

area of concern �00� �00� �00�

Packaging and/or labelling issues 25 19 �0

Stability issues 3 9 �

Non-compliance with PA issues 3 4 �

Product safety concerns 7 5 ��

Non-compliance with specification issues 5 2 �

Non-adherence with cold chain issues 0 0 �

Particulate or other contamination issues 1 1 �

Product mix-up issues 3 1 �

Unauthorised product issues 12 14 �0

Lack of therapeutic efficacy issues 1 0 0

Other issues 2 8 �

n	Recalls of Medicinal Products for Veterinary Use:

The following tables illustrate the total number and category of recalls of veterinary medicinal products 

which took place in Ireland in 2005, compared with previous years.

vETErINary MEdICINal prOduCT rECallS:

year �00� �00� �00�

Total number 8 19 �

BrEakdOwN Of vETErINary MEdICINal prOduCT rECallS

area of concern �00� �00� �00�

Packaging and/ or labelling issues 2 8 �

Stability issues 1 0 0

Non-compliance with VPA issues 1 0 0

Product safety concerns 0 0 �

Non-compliance with specification issues 0 2 �

Particulate or other contamination issues 0 0 0

Product mix-up issues 1 0 0

Unauthorised product issues 3 8 �

Other issues 0 1 0
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MEdICal dEvICES dEparTMENT

INTRODUCTION
The year 2005 was a busy and productive year for 

the Medical Devices Department. Monitoring of 

safety issues on the marketplace continued to be 

a key activity. Trends generally indicate an increase 

in activity particularly in relation to the areas of 

vigilance and compliance. 

In 2005 one of the key activities related to the 

handling of counterfeit condoms on the Irish 

market. This ultimately resulted in a successful 

prosecution and has also heightened awareness 

regarding the risk of counterfeit medical devices 

being placed on the Irish market.

In the last quarter of 2005 a project focussing 

on the future needs of the Medical Devices 

Department was initiated. The aim of this project 

was to define the required activity levels within the 

Medical Devices Department and to ensure that 

the resources are available to deliver the essential 

services provided by the department. 

VIGILANCE
There was a continued increase in the number of 

vigilance reports received by the IMB in the year 

2005. Six hundred and eight reports in total were 

received, an increase of approximately 15% on 

2004 and 38% on 2003.

NuMBEr Of vIgIlaNCE rEpOrTS rECEIvEd 

durINg �000 TO �00�

In 2005, vigilance reports from manufacturers 

increased by approximately 58%. The number 

of user reports increased by 83% due to the 

targeting of information to the health services, 

the publication of guidance on the manufacture 

of medical devices in healthcare institutions and 

the Dublin Area Teaching Hospitals vigilance 

pilot running in the Dublin area, which is also 

active to some extent in other parts of Ireland. 

The IMB greatly appreciates and acknowledges 

the important contribution of busy healthcare 

professionals in the voluntary user reporting 

system for medical devices which assists greatly 

with the continued surveillance of the safety of 

medical devices on the Irish market. 

Ms. Ann O’Connor, Medical Devices Director
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Class IIa and class IIb general medical devices 

continue to represent a significant number of the 

reports received, while reports relating to the 

general category IVD represent the majority of IVD 

cases. Single-use devices and electro-mechanical 

devices again represent the product families with 

the more noteworthy number of reports in 2005. 

The three principal issues that were encountered in 

2005 were in relation to pacemakers, defibrillators, 

infusion pumps and blood glucose meters, where 

manufacturers in some cases circulated multiple 

communications advising users of performance 

problems with their devices. Component 

problems, software problems and poor service 

and maintenance problems were found to be 

the root cause of many of the vigilance issues 

relating to implantable and external defibrillators 

and infusion pumps, while issues relating to the 

unit of measurement displayed being inadvertently 

changed from mmol/l to mg/dl were observed with 

a number of models of blood glucose meters.

faMIly grOupS Of dEvICES IMplICaTEd IN 

vIgIlaNCE rEpOrTS IN �00� 

2005 also saw a substantial increase in the number 

of recalls/field corrective actions affecting the Irish 

market.

OuTCOME Of ThE INvESTIgaTION Of 

vIgIlaNCE rEpOrTS IN �00� 

During the course of 2005, the IMB issued 25 

Competent Authority reports to colleagues in other 

Member States. Also several files were referred for 

post market surveillance audits both by Ireland and 

other Member States.

Ireland has also played an active role on the 

European task force that is compiling the new 

revision of the MEDDEV rev. 2.12-1, revision 

4 Guidelines on the Medical Device Vigilance 

System. 

Notified Body 
In 2005, the IMB conducted two surveillance 

audits at the premises of the Irish Notified Body 

i.e. National Standards Authority of Ireland (NSAI). 

Both surveillance audits were conducted in relation 

to the Medical Device Directive (MDD), the Active 

Implantable Medical Device Directive (AIMDD) and 

the In vitro Diagnostic Medical Device Directive 

(IVDD). In general these audits were satisfactory 

and all issues raised at these audits were closed in 

2005. 

In addition to the surveillance audits, three 

observed audits were conducted on the Notified 

Body auditors to the Medical Devices Directive and 

IVD Directive in 2005. 
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An application of an extension to the scope of 

designation of NSAI was received in August 2005, 

regarding Council Directive 2000/70/EC which 

amends Council Directive 93/42/EEC of 14 June 1993 

with regards to medical devices incorporating stable 

derivative of human blood or human plasma, and 

the related Irish Statutory Instrument S.I. No. 576 

of 2002, European Communities (Medical Devices) 

(Amendment) Regulations, 2002. The extension 

to scope was reviewed and granted by the IMB 

prior to the transitional period expiry date of the 12 

December 2005. The proposed amendment to scope 

was forwarded to the Department of Health and 

Children for submission to the Official Journal of the 

European Commission in December 2005. 

In vitro Diagnostic (IVD) Medical 

Devices 
In 2005, the IMB continued to work with the IVD 

sector in relation to IVD legislation. In particular, a 

position paper was issued by the IMB in relation to 

the interpretation of the IVD Directive for in-house 

or ‘home-brew’ assays. This was welcomed and 

provided clarification to health institutions on this 

subject. New issues arose in 2005, specifically 

the development of point of care testing in Irish 

hospitals. It is envisaged that the IMB will work with 

professional bodies to develop guidance for the 

health services in relation to this issue.

Certificates of Free Sale 
In 2005, three hundred and two certificates of free 

sale were issued by the Medical Devices Department 

of the IMB, which was a small increase over 2004. 

It is not clear if a plateau has been reached in this 

area but with new manufacturers still positioning 

themselves in Ireland, this may again increase. 

Requests were received from manufacturers, 

authorised representatives and legal manufacturers 

located in Ireland, Europe and the USA. All 

certificate of free sale applications are now received 

electronically. 

Registrations 
The number of new notifications/amendments in 

2005 in relation to the register for medical devices 

was 428 medical devices, 326 in vitro diagnostic 

medical devices (IVD’s) and 102 general medical 

devices (GMD’s). The number of new organisations 

registered was 25.

Clinical Investigations 
During 2005, three clinical investigation applications 

were received under S.I. No. 252 of 1994. Two were 

approved and one was withdrawn due to inadequate 

data. One of the approvals related to a dental product 

and the second was for the treatment of skin cancer. 

A significant increase in enquiries from manufacturers 

who are considering commencing clinical 

investigations in Ireland was noted and it is expected 

that this will become evident in 2006 with an increase 

in applications. A number of pre-submission meetings 

with manufacturers also took place in the latter half of 

the year. The IMB participated as an observer at the 

Irish Medical Devices Association (IMDA) task force 

in relation to clinical investigations in Ireland, 

Publications 
In 2005, the following guidance document was 

published for stakeholders:

Guidance Note 23: 

Guidance Note on Manufacture of Medical Devices 

within Healthcare Institutions

This was a significant achievement and followed two 

years of preparation. It is now in use in the health 

services and has addressed many points that required 

clarification.

The document ‘Guidance on Breast Implants - 

Information for Women considering Breast Implants’ 

was published by the Department of Health and 

Children in 2005. This guidance was drafted by the 

ACMD for the Department of Health and Children in 

2004 and was finally published in November 2005.

An additional guidance note for medical device 

manufacturers regarding auditing by the IMB to the 

Regulations was brought to completion in 2005 and 

will be published by the IMB in early 2006.

The IMB Medical Devices Department continued to 

issue a monthly circulation of safety and advisory 

notices for medical devices to the health services in 

Ireland. Five IMB safety notices and 66 Medicines 

and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency safety 

notices were circulated. 
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The IMB Safety Notices which were circulated in 

2005 were:

IMB Safety Notice SN2005(01): Durex Condoms

IMB Safety Notice SN2005(02): Durex Condoms

IMB Safety Notice SN2005(03): Tulip Condoms

IMB Safety Notice SN2005(04): Illegally CE Marked 

Products

IMB Safety Notice SN2005(05): Cardio Respiratory 

Monitors

Four medical device newsletters were issued and 

they continue to be well received by stakeholders. 

Contributions are being received from both the 

healthcare sector and industry in relation to topics of 

interest

Communication
A successful and well attended information day 

was held for the health services in relation to 

manufacturing of medical devices in the healthcare 

setting. Staff from the Medical Devices Department 

gave twelve external presentations to professional 

groups including Enable Ireland, Irish External 

Quality Assurance Scheme, Irish Association of 

Sterile Service Manager, Management Forum UK, 

MedTec Conference UK, various hospitals and 

university courses in relation to the Competent 

Authority activities. Workshops were presented 

by invitation at the EU Commission Accession 

Countries Workshop in Prague, Czech Republic, in 

relation to the proposed amendments to the Medical 

Devices Directive and in Cyprus, a workshop was 

presented on counterfeit condoms and the Irish 

experience. Papers were also presented at both 

the UK meeting of Competent Authorities during 

their presidency of the EU and the presidency of 

Luxembourg.

Post-Market Surveillance Activities
In 2005 seven post-market surveillance audits were 

carried out. This included the final proactive post-

market surveillance visit in relation to interventional 

vascular medical devices manufactured in Ireland. 

This programme of work is now completed. A 

new programme of proactive work in relation to 

manufacturers of respiratory medical devices was 

begun in 2005. This work will be completed in 2006. 

Eighteen audits in relation to manufacturers on the 

register of medical devices took place in 2005. A 

number of reactive audits also took place in relation 

to issues of concern.

A significant increase in the number of compliance 

cases handled was noted in 2005. The number of 

cases increased from 29 to 70, which is a 241% 

increase in one year. This is partly due to the focus 

on compliance initiated in 2004. The majority of 

compliance cases in 2005 were as a result of 

reactive issues. 

The most serious case in 2005 was the placing 

of counterfeit condoms by an Irish distributor on 

the Irish market. This was a high profile case, 

which resulted in significant media attention. 

Safety notices were issued advising the public 

and pharmacies of the situation. The recall of the 

condoms was managed and supervised by the 

Medical Devices Department. Legal action was 

successful and set the precedent for future medical 

device cases.

Distributors of medical devices were also provided 

with education in the area of medical devices 

legislation as the opportunity arose. The need 

to develop regulatory control over distributors 

of medical devices was discussed with the 

Department of Health and Children and this will 

continue on the agenda in 2006. The area of teeth 

whiteners was also looked at in relation to whether 

such products could be categorised as medical 

devices and a position paper was agreed with the 

Department of Health and Children.

During 2005, the Market Surveillance Operations 

Group (MSOG) monitored and followed-up 

compliance communcation requests coming from 

European countries.

European Meetings 
In 2005 there was a drop in the number of EU 

meetings held. The number and type of meetings 

being held is under review by the EU Commission, 

which will hopefully ensure that meetings are 

focused and more productive. Ireland presented and 

participated at two meetings of the EU presidencies, 

namely Luxembourg and the United Kingdom. 
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INfOrMaTION TEChNOlOgy & 
ChaNgE MaNagEMENT dEparTMENT

INTRODUCTION
The IMB’s Information Technology (IT) and Change 

Management Department is a key service provider 

within the organisation. Its responsibilities include 

the development, maintenance and support of all 

hardware, communications systems and software 

utilised by the organisation. At the end of 2005 

this included over 40 different business software 

applications, more than 170 desktop systems and 

20 servers. The department provides technical 

support through its helpdesk function to more than 

170 staff on an ongoing basis. The department 

has a significant training role. In 2005 over 130 

people received training provided by IT personnel. 

The department is also responsible for the 

management of the IMB website (www.imb.ie), 

with several hundred updates to the site in 2005.

Change management is also the responsibility 

of this department. This function is principally 

concerned with the review of existing operations 

with a view to delivering operational efficiencies 

through structured change programmes. A 

comprehensive change management plan was first 

initiated in 2002 and work continues to identify 

further opportunities for improvement. 

In line with the IMB’s role in the European network 

of regulatory bodies, the department is actively 

involved in a number of pan-European projects. 

New medicines legislation introduced in 2005 

brought challenges as the impact on Member 

State processes, systems and data repositories 

was considerable. Substantial resources were 

mobilised throughout 2005 to ensure that the 

organisation was ready to meet the new legislative 

requirements. 

TECHNOLOGy ACTIVITIES

Human Medicines Department
The systems designed to support the licensing 

activities of the Human Medicines Department 

were further enhanced in 2005. The introduction 

of new requirements for data handling and sharing 

under new medicines legislation was the focus of 

considerable activity in the technology department 

throughout the year. 

Work on the development of enhanced web 

services to industry continued throughout 2005 and 

industry groups and interested parties participated 

in a number of workshops and training sessions 

hosted by the IMB. 

Ms. Suzanne McDonald, Director of IT and Change Management
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The Human Medicines Department commenced 

the publication of SPC (Summary of Product 

Characteristic) documentation for products licensed 

in Ireland. Information on these products can be 

found on the website at www.imb.ie. 

Human Medicines – Drug Safety
Following on from its involvement in a testing 

protocol with the EMEA in 2004 and early 2005, 

the IMB moved into production with the EMEA in 

mid-2005. This enabled the exchange of structured 

drug safety information with the EMEA and 

industry, known as E2B. Pharmaceutical companies 

continue to participate in local testing with the 

IMB. In order to ensure compliance with the new 

legislative requirements for exchange of data, the 

IMB has agreed to implement the EudraVigilance 

system at local level. The new system will be 

scheduled for testing and piloting in 2006. 

Medical Devices
Further improvements to the extranet services 

designed for the Medical Devices Department 

were undertaken in 2005. The medical device 

systems attracted visits from a number of 

European agencies during the year. Some of these 

agencies have expressed interest in adopting 

the approach taken by the IMB, while others are 

anxious to learn from our experiences. IT staff 

contributed to a number of workshops with visiting 

agencies. 

Quality Management Systems
Quality was a strong focus for the organisation 

in 2005 with the decision to purchase a 

comprehensive quality management system 

taken in mid-2005. An extensive analysis phase 

was conducted with the Quality Manager and the 

QMS team to determine the requirements for new 

systems in this area. Work commenced on the 

development of the system at year end. The user 

acceptance testing and implementation for the 

QMS is planned for 2006.

Veterinary Medicines – Technology
In December 2005 the Veterinary Medicines 

Department commenced implementation of new, 

improved work management technology. The 

principal aim of the various systems is to deliver 

operational benefits to the veterinary team through 

rapid access to data and enhanced management 

information functionality.

An implementation programme running over 

several months is scheduled together with a 

feasibility study to examine the value of workflow 

technology usage within the department. 

During 2005 the Veterinary Medicines Department 

contributed significantly to the IMB website 

through the publication of SPCs for licensed 

veterinary medicines. Several hundred documents 

were published in 2005 alone. Product information 

on licensed veterinary medicines can be obtained 

at www.imb.ie.

IMB Website
Feedback from users and suggestions for 

improvement to the IMB website is welcomed and 

should be forwarded to helpdesk@imb.ie. It was 

recognised in 2005 that a re-design of the site is 

necessary to address the changes and growth in 

IMB activities. It is therefore proposed that a new 

site will be developed in 2006 ready for launching 

in early 2007.

Technical Support – External 
The IT and Change Management Department 

provides technical support to a small number of 

external agencies. In 2005 both Malta and Norway 

sought the assistance of the department for 

the provision of application software services. A 

number of agencies visited the IMB in 2005 to 

examine its use of workflow technology. Scientific, 

operational and IT staff were involved in workshops 

with a number of visiting agencies during 2005. 

During the year the German regulatory agency also 

requested the assistance of IT staff in determining 

the best approach to developing its workflow 

applications.
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Change Management 
A number of organisational projects were 

undertaken in 2005. These projects are 

underpinned by the Board’s commitment to 

continuous improvement. 

The reorganisation of the Compliance Department, 

which was initiated in 2004 continued to be a 

major project for 2005. Significant structural 

and operational changes were made within 

the department during the year and a business 

process-engineering project was also initiated. 

The new organisational arrangements within the 

department have already delivered considerable 

operational benefits and we look forward to further 

achievements during 2006.

The second project, again commenced in 

2004, focussed on the development of the 

Pharmacovigilance Section within the Human 

Medicines Department. The Board approved the 

revised staffing arrangements in May 2005 and 

the management structure was established by the 

end of the year. This project will continue to run 

throughout 2006. 

In the last quarter of 2005 a project focussing 

on the future needs of the Medical Devices 

Department was initiated. The aim of this review 

was to define the required activity levels and to 

ensure that the resources are available to deliver 

the essential services provided by the department. 

The findings of the review will be considered in 

mid-2006.

EU Projects
In 2005 the IT& Change Management department 

participated in the following European working 

groups: 

n Esubmission Technical Implementation Group 

n EuroPharm

n EudraVigilance

n EudraNet

n Product Information Management (PIM)

n EudaMed

n EudraGMP
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Board Members �00�: Mr. Pat O’Mahony (Chairman) 

Prof. Brendan Buckley (appointed 9th August 2005) 
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Mr. Aidan Murray 

Ms. Anne Nolan 

Mr. P.J. O’Connor

Under the IMB Act 1995, the Minister for Health and Children appoints 

Board members for a term of 5 years.

This period expired on 31st December 2005.
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The new Board were appointed by the Minister for Health and Children 

for a term of 5 years from 1st January 2006.
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 Bank of Ireland Corporate 

Lower Baggot Street 
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Solicitors: Eugene F. Collins 

Temple Chambers 
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Earlsfort Terrace 

Dublin 2

auditor: Comptroller and Auditor General 

Dublin Castle 

Dublin 2
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The Irish Medicines Board (the IMB) was 

established under the terms of the Irish Medicines 

Board Act, 1995, and is governed by a Board 

which was appointed by the Minister for Health 

and Children. The Board of the IMB (the Board) 

consists of a chairman and eight unremunerated 

non executive members.

The IMB is committed to the highest standards 

of Corporate Governance and has implemented 

the Department of Finance “Code of Practice for 

the Governance of State Bodies”. This Code of 

Practice, which was issued to the Irish Medicines 

Board in January 2002, incorporates many of 

the principles under which the IMB operates, 

taking account of the size and legal nature of the 

organisation. The IMB has in place an extensive 

Code of Conduct for all staff, committees and Board 

members. The IMB applies the highest standards of 

disclosure and transparency in respect of interests 

held by staff, committees and Board members.

Audit Committee
The IMB has an audit committee comprising three 

Board members, which met on five occasions 

during 2005. This committee is responsible for 

reviewing internal control matters, together with 

any other issues raised by the external auditors, the 

Board or management. The external auditor meets 

annually with the committee to brief them on the 

outcome of the external audit. The committee 

in 2004, in response to the growing size and 

complexity of the organisation, took the decision 

to appoint an internal auditor to the Board. This 

process was completed in early 2005 and Crowleys 

DFK were appointed as internal auditor to the 

Board for an initial period of three years. The audit 

committee have also been involved with the review 

of the quality systems as described below.

Quality Systems
During 2005, the Finance Unit of the IMB concluded 

the process of implementing standard operating 

procedures (SOPs) under the Quality Management 

System. This process involved a critical review 

and analysis of internal controls and processes 

throughout the section with particular emphasis 

on risk management. This system now underpins 

the internal control environment and feeds into the 

internal audit process and ultimately into the audit 

committee.

Remuneration Policy - Board Members 

and Executive Directors
Remuneration and travel expenses paid to Board 

members are disclosed in note 17 to the Financial 

Statements. The Chairman receives remuneration 

as directed by the Minister for Health and Children 

in accordance with the Irish Medicines Board 

Act, 1995. Other Board members receive travel 

expenses in accordance with circulars issued by 

the Department of Health and Children. The Chief 

Executive is remunerated in accordance with 

guidelines issued from Government and other 

Executive Directors are paid in accordance with 

Department of Health and Children pay scales. 

Remuneration Committee
The IMB has established a remuneration committee 

as a sub committee of the Board to review the 

remuneration of the Chief Executive in accordance 

with guidelines issued by the Department of 

Finance and the Department of Health and Children. 

The Chief Executive’s remuneration is disclosed net 

of Superannuation contributions in note 18 to the 

Financial Statements.

Internal Control
The Board is responsible for the IMB’s systems 

of internal control. Such systems can only provide 

reasonable and not absolute assurance against 

material misstatement or loss. The systems of 

internal controls in use in the Irish Medicines Board 

are described more fully in the Chairman’s report on 

page 41.

Going Concern
The Board has a reasonable expectation, at the time 

of approving the Financial Statements, that the IMB 

has adequate resources to continue its operations 

for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it 

continues to adopt the going concern basis in 

preparing the Financial Statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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1. The Board is responsible for the body’s system 

of internal financial control.

2. The IMB system of internal control can provide 

only reasonable and not absolute assurance 

against material error, misstatement or loss.

3. The Board confirms that there is an ongoing 

process for identifying, evaluating and 

managing the significant risks faced by the IMB. 

This process is regularly reviewed by the Board 

via the report of the Chief Executive.

 Management are responsible for the 

identification and evaluation of significant risks 

applicable to their areas of business together 

with the design and operation of suitable 

internal controls. These risks are assessed on a 

continuing basis and may be associated with a 

variety of internal or external sources including 

control breakdowns, disruption in information 

systems, natural catastrophe and regulatory 

requirements.

 Management report fortnightly on operational 

issues and risks and how they are managed to 

the Management Committee. The Management 

Committee’s role in this regard is to review on 

behalf of the Board the key risks inherent in the 

affairs of the IMB and the system of actions 

necessary to manage such risks and to present 

their findings on significant matters via the 

Chief Executive to the Board.

 The Chief Executive reports to the Board 

on behalf of the executive management on 

significant changes in the work of the IMB and 

on the external environment, which affects 

significant risks. The Director of Finance and 

Corporate Affairs provides the Board with 

monthly financial information, which includes 

key performance indicators. Where areas for 

improvement in the system are identified the 

Board considers the recommendations made by 

the Management Committee.

 An appropriate control framework is in place 

with clearly defined matters which are reserved 

for Board approval only or, as delegated by 

the Board, for appropriate Executive approval. 

The Board has delegated the day-to-day 

management of the IMB and established 

appropriate limits for expenditure authorisation 

to the Executive. The Chief Executive is 

responsible for implementation of internal 

controls, including internal financial control.

 The system on internal financial control is 

monitored in general by the processes outlined 

above. In addition, the Audit Committee of the 

Board reviews specific areas of internal control 

as part of their terms of reference.

4. The Audit Committee of the Board have 

satisfactorily reviewed the effectiveness of 

the system of internal control on behalf of 

the Board. The Board of the IMB carried out a 

formal review of these systems in 2005.

Mr. Pat O’Mahony  

Chairman to the Board

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE IRISH 
MEDICINES BOARD

regarding the assessment of internal financial controls of a State body for the 

year ended 31st December 2005.



Irish Medicines Board Annual Report 2005

��

Irish Medicines Board Annual Report 2005

STATEMENT OF BOARD MEMBERS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is required by the Irish Medicines Board 

Act, 1995 to prepare financial statements for each 

financial year which give a true and fair view of the 

state of affairs of the Irish Medicines Board and of 

its surplus or deficit for that period.

In preparing those statements the Board is required 

to:

n select suitable accounting policies and apply 

them consistently

n make judgements and estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent

n disclose and explain any material departures 

from applicable accounting standards, and

n prepare the financial statements on a going 

concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the Irish Medicines Board will 

continue in existence.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper 

accounting records which disclose with reasonable 

accuracy at any time the financial position of 

the Irish Medicines Board and which enable it 

to ensure that the financial statements comply 

with the IMB Act and with accounting standards 

generally accepted in Ireland. It is also responsible 

for safeguarding the assets of the Irish Medicines 

Board and hence for taking reasonable steps for 

the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities.

On behalf of the Board

Chairman

Board Member
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REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL

for presentation to the Houses of the Oireachtas

I have audited the financial statements of the Irish Medicines Board for the year ended 31 December 

2005 under Section 18 of the Irish Medicines Board Act, 1995.

The financial statements, which have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein, 

comprise the Accounting Policies, the Statement of Income and Expenditure, the Statement of Total 

Recognised Gains and Losses, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes.

Respective Responsibilities of the Board and the Comptroller and Auditor 

General
The Irish Medicines Board is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with the 

Irish Medicines Board Act, 1995 and for ensuring the regularity of transactions. The Board prepares the 

financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland as modified 

by the directions of the Minister for Health and Children in relation to accounting for superannuation 

costs. The accounting responsibilities of the Members of the Board are set out in the Statement of Board 

Members’ Responsibilities. 

My responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 

requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

I report my opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland. I also report whether in my opinion proper books of 

account have been kept. In addition, I state whether the financial statements are in agreement with the 

books of account.

I report any material instance where moneys have not been applied for the purposes intended or where 

the transactions do not conform to the authorities governing them.

I also report if I have not obtained all the information and explanations necessary for the purposes of my 

audit.

I review whether the Statement on Internal Financial Control reflects the Board’s compliance with the 

Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies and report any material instance where it does not 

do so, or if the statement is misleading or inconsistent with other information of which I am aware from 

my audit of the financial statements. I am not required to consider whether the Statement on Internal 

Financial Control covers all financial risks and controls, or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

risk and control procedures.

Basis of Audit Opinion
In the exercise of my function as Comptroller and Auditor General, I conducted my audit of the financial 

statements in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 

Practices Board and by reference to the special considerations which attach to State bodies in relation 

to their management and operation. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant 

to the amounts and disclosures and regularity of the financial transactions included in the financial 

statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made in the 

preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the 

Board’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
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I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations that I considered 

necessary in order to provide me with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In 

forming my opinion I also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial 

statements.

Opinion
As explained in the Accounting Policies, the Board recognises the costs of superannuation entitlements 

only as they become payable. This policy does not comply with Financial Reporting Standard 17 which 

requires such costs to be recognised in the year the entitlements are earned. While the failure to comply 

with Financial Reporting Standard 17 does not impact on the overall financial performance or position of 

the Board as disclosed in the financial statements, in my opinion compliance is necessary for a proper 

understanding of the costs of providing the superannuation benefits earned by employees during the year 

and of the value of the benefits that the Board has committed to providing in respect of service up to the 

year end.

Except for the failure to recognise the Board’s superannuation costs and liabilities in accordance with 

Financial Reporting Standard 17, the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in Ireland, of the state of the Board’s affairs at 31 December 

2005 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended.

In my opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Board. The financial statements are in 

agreement with the books of account.

gerard Smyth 

for and on behalf of the 

Comptroller and auditor general 

�0 august �00�
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Historical Cost Convention
The Financial Statements are prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles under the 
historical cost convention and comply with the financial 
reporting standards of the Accounting Standards Board, 

with the exception of superannuation - see note below.

Income Recognition
Income is recognised in the financial statements on the 
following basis:

n In the case of applications for Product 
Authorisations (new applications, variations to 
existing authorisations, or transfers) and Clinical 
Trial applications, income is recognised in the 
financial statements when a valid application form is 
received. 

n In the case of Wholesale and Manufacturing 
Licences and maintenance of Product 
Authorisations, fees are payable annually and a full 

year’s income is accrued in each financial year.

Expenditure Recognition
Expenditure is recognised in the financial statements 

on an accruals basis as it is incurred.

Reporting Currency and Currency 

Translation
The Financial Statements are prepared in euros.

Transactions in currencies other than euro are recorded 
at the rates ruling at the date of the transactions or at 
a contracted date. Monetary assets and liabilities are 
translated into euro at the balance sheet date or at a 
contracted date. Exchange differences are dealt with in 

the income and expenditure account. 

Tangible Assets
Tangible Assets excluding Premises

Tangible Assets excluding Premises are stated at 
cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is 
calculated in order to write off the cost of tangible 
assets to their estimated residual values over their 
estimated useful lives by equal annual instalments.

The estimated useful lives of tangible assets by 
reference to which depreciation has been calculated 
are as follows:

Leasehold Property : Unexpired portion of 
 the lease

Fixtures and Fittings : 5 years

Computer Equipment : 3 years

Improvements to Premises : 10 years

Premises
The IMB purchased its premises at Kevin O’Malley 
House, Earlsfort Centre, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2 on 
22 December 2004. The value capitalised was equal to 
the purchase price plus those costs directly attributable 
with bringing the asset into use.

No depreciation has been calculated on the value of 
Premises, as the remaining useful economic life is 
estimated to be greater than 50 years. An impairment 
review was carried out at year end and the value of 

Premises was considered to be appropriate.

Taxation
The Irish Medicines Board is exempt from liability to 
Corporation Tax under Section 32 of the Finance Act, 

1994.

Debtors
Known bad debts are written off and specific provision 
is made for any amount the collection of which is 

considered doubtful. 

Superannuation
The superannuation scheme operated by the Irish 
Medicines Board is in accordance with the Local 
Government (Superannuation Revision) (Consolidation) 
Scheme, 1986. It is an unfunded statutory scheme and 
benefits are met from current income as they arise.

The charge to salaries and wages is stated gross 
of superannuation deductions of _319,701 (2004 
- _309,557). The surplus for the year on page 46 is 
then shown both before and after superannuation 
transactions for the year. The income and expenditure 
reserve on the balance sheet is split between retained 
reserves and superannuation reserves in note 11.

By direction of the Minister for Health and Children, 

the provisions of FRS 17 are not being complied with. 

Library
No value has been placed on the books, audio-visual 
resources and electronic databases in the library. 
Expenditure on these items is written off in the year in 

which it is incurred.

Leases

All leases are treated as operating leases and the 
rentals thereunder are charged to the Income and 
Expenditure account on a straight line basis over the 

lease period.
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STATEMENT OF INCOME AND ExPENDITURE

For the year ended 31 December 2005

Note �00� 

_

2004 

_

Fee Income 2  13,179,912  12,375,088 

Other Income 3  4,208,819  2,811,842 

  ��,���,��� 15,186,930

Salaries and Wages 4  10,129,036  8,424,547 

Other Operating Costs 5  4,080,480  4,861,407 

Depreciation 1  1,253,489  988,135 

  ��,���,00� 14,274,089

Surplus for the year before write

back of Superannuation contributions   1,925,726 912,841

Staff Superannuation Contributions   319,701 309,557

Surplus for the year  2,245,427 1,222,398

Balance brought forward  5,790,170 4,567,772

Balance carried forward  �,0��,��� 5,790,170

All income and the surplus for the year arises from continuing activities. 

STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND 
LOSSES

For the year ended 31 December 2005

Note �00� 

_

2004 

_

Retained Surplus For The year 2,245,427 1,222,398

Unrealised Gains For The year - -

Total recognised gains �,���,��� 1,222,398

Chairman      Board Member

The accounting policies on page 45 and the notes on pages 49 to 54 form part of the financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 December 2005

Note �00� 

_

2004 

_

Tangible assets 1  ��,���,0��  21,594,493

Current assets

Debtors and Prepayments 6  1,281,172  2,115,892 

Stock of Stationery  4,449  5,611 

Cash at Bank and in Hand 12  2,826,070  2,759,550 

Short Term Deposits  325,057  3,771,239

 �,���,���  8,652,292

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year

Creditors and Accruals 7  3,264,233  4,056,615 

Mortgage 13  340,000  340,000

 �,�0�,���  4,396,615

Net Current assets  832,515  4,255,677

long Term liabilities

Mortgage 13  14,970,000  20,060,000

TOTal NET aSSETS  �,0��,���  5,790,170

financed by

Income and Expenditure Reserve 11  8,035,597  5,790,170

 �,0��,���  5,790,170

Chairman      Board Member

 

The accounting policies on page 45 and the notes on pages 49 to 54 form part of the financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the Year Ended 31 December 2005

Note  �00� 

 _

 2004 

 _

Reconciliation of surplus to net cash 

inflow from operating activities

Surplus for year 2,245,427 1,222,398

Depreciation Charge 1,253,489 988,135

(Increase)/Decrease in Debtors 834,720 (195,664)

(Increase)/Decrease in Stocks 1,162 (143)

Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors - amounts

falling due within one year (792,382) 989,731

Deposit Interest (52,513) (71,943)

Bank Interest and Charges 634,045 21,601

Loss/(Gain) on Disposal of Fixed Assets (975) 53,588

Net Cash Inflow from Operating activities �,���,��� 3,007,703

Cash flow Statement

Net Cash Inflow from Operating activities 4,122,973 3,007,703

Return on Investments and Servicing of Finance � (581,532) 50,342

Capital Expenditure � (1,831,103) (21,240,102)

Management of Liquid Resources � 3,446,182 (1,042,916)

Financing � (5,090,000) 20,400,000

Increase in Cash ��,��0 1,175,027

Reconciliation of net cash 

flow to movement in net debt

Increase In Cash 66,520 1,175,027

Increase/(Decrease) In Short Term Deposits (3,446,182) 1,042,916

(Increase)/Decrease In Long Term Finance 5,090,000 (20,400,000)

Change In Net Debt 1,710,338 (18,182,057)

Net Debt at start of year (13,869,211) 4,312,846

Net debt at end of year � (��,���,���) (13,869,211)

The accounting policies on page 45 and the notes on pages 49 to 54 form part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended 31 December 2005

� Tangible assets  

fixtures and 

fittings 

 _

 

Computer 

Equipment 

 _

 

leasehold  

Improvements 

 _

 

Improvements 

To premises 

 _

 

 

premises 

 _

 

 

Total 

 _

Cost

Balance as at 1 January 2005  936,317  4,110,849  -  - 20,383,000 25,430,166

Additions for the year  166,630  918,486  489,884  257,078  - 1,832,078

Disposals for the year  - (27,493) -    -  - (27,493)

As at 31 December 2005  1,102,947  5,001,842  489,884  257,078 20,383,000 27,234,751

depreciation

Balance as at 1 January 2005  753,464  3,082,209  -   -  - 3,835,673

Charge for the year  114,254  1,064,539  48,988  25,708  - 1,253,489

Disposals for the year  - (27,493) -   -  - (27,493)

As at 31 December 2005  867,718  4,119,255  48,988  25,708  - 5,061,669

Net Book value at �� 

december �00�

 

  235,229 

  

 882,587 

  

 440,896 

 

 231,370 

 

 20,383,000 

 

 22,173,082

Net Book value at 

� January �00�

  

 182,853 

  

 1,028,640 

 

  -

 

  - 

 

 20,383,000 

 

 21,594,493

Note  �00� 

 _

 2004 

 _

� Income

fee Income

Clinical Trials  114,286  117,390 

Human Medicine - National Fees  6,092,233  5,384,816 

Human Medicine - European Fees  3,780,287  3,822,228 

Veterinary Medicine - National Fees  931,709  916,180 

Veterinary Medicine - European Fees  330,468  324,100 

Inspectorate Department 1,827,633  1,719,402 

Medical Devices 103,296  90,972 

 13,179,912 12,375,088

Other Income (Note 3)  4,208,819  2,811,842 

Total Income ��,���,���  15,186,930 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2005

Certain fees, totalling _8,885,871, are required by law to be disposed of in accordance with the 

directions of the Minister for Finance.

Note  �00� 

 _

 2004 

 _

� Other Income

Dept Of Health & Children Funding 3,914,690  2,289,781 

Maltese Twinning Income 22  -  180,330 

Czech Twinning Income  - 21,920

IT Income  13,000  66,000 

ISOP Conference Income  15,272  173,230 

Conference Fee Income  84,090  62,226 

Deposit Interest  52,513  71,943 

(Loss)/Gain on Disposal of Fixed Assets  975 (53,588)

Miscellaneous  128,279   -   

  �,�0�,��� 2,811,842

� Salaries and wages

Salaries and Wages  9,304,983  7,686,971 

Social Welfare Costs  824,053  737,576 

 �0,���,0��  8,424,547 

The average number of staff employed during the year was 192 (2004 - 169).

Staff employed at 31 December 2005 can be analysed across the following departments:

�00� 2004

Medical Technical  16  12 

Pharmaceutical Technical  26  25 

Veterinary Technical  7  7 

Inspectorate Technical  15  11 

Medical Devices Technical  7  6 

Enforcement Technical  6  7 

Scientific Technical  2  - 

Blood Directive Technical  1  - 

Herbal Medicines Technical  -  1 

Controlled Drugs Technical  1  1 

Administrative and Operational Staff  111  110 

Pensioners  7  5 

 199  185 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2005

 �00� 

 _

 2004 

 _

5 Operating Costs

Accommodation Costs 762,823 2,086,719

Travel, Representation and Training  765,657  1,175,755 

Bank Charges and Interest  634,045  21,601 

Legal & Professional Fees  189,184  133,684 

Stationery, Publications and Postage  291,160  241,488 

Other Operating Costs  1,437,611  1,202,160 

 �,0�0,��0  4,861,407 

� debtors (all due within one year)

Trade Debtors  1,018,254  1,605,299 

Prepayments  179,055  172,398 

Other Debtors  83,863  338,195 

 �,���,���  2,115,892

� Creditors (amounts falling due within one year)

Trade Creditors  400,192  657,225 

Accruals  2,573,384  2,991,545 

Revenue  290,657  407,845 

�,���,���  4,056,615 

� gross Cash flows

Returns on Investment and Servicing of Finance:

Deposit Interest  52,513  71,943 

Bank Interest and Charges (634,045) (21,601)

(���,���)  50,342 

Capital Expenditure

Payments to acquire Tangible Fixed Assets (1,832,078) (21,240,352)

Receipts from sales of Tangible Fixed Assets 975  250 

(�,���,�0�) (21,240,102)

Management of Liquid Resources

(Increase)/Decrease in Short Term Deposits 3,446,182 (1,042,916)

�,���,��� (1,042,916)

Financing

Increase/(Decrease) in Long Term Finance (5,090,000) 20,400,000

(�,0�0,000) 20,400,000

� analysis of Changes in Net debt  as at  as at

 0�/0�/�00�  Cashflow  ��/��/�00�

Cash at Bank and in Hand  2,759,550  66,520  2,826,070 

Short Term Deposits  3,771,239 (3,446,182)  325,057 

Debt Due Within One year (340,000) -  (340,000)

Debt Due After One year (20,060,000)  5,090,000 (14,970,000)

(13,869,211)  1,710,338 (12,158,873)
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�00� 

_

2004 

_

�0 administration Expenses

Surplus for the year was calculated having charged:

Auditor’s Remuneration  15,300  13,200 

�� Income and Expenditure reserves

The Income and Expenditure Reserve disclosed in the Balance 

Sheet on page 47 comprises the following:

Retained Reserves  5,963,749  4,038,023 

Staff Superannuation Contributions  2,071,848  1,752,147 

  �,0��,��� 5,790,170

�� Cash and Bank Balances

Current Account Balances  531,604  64,494

Deposit Account Balances  2,293,654  2,693,873

Cash on Hand  812  1,183

 �,���,0�0  2,759,550 

�� long Term liabilities

Mortgage

On 22 December 2004 the Board purchased its premises at Kevin O’Malley House, Earlsfort 

Centre, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2. The purchase was financed by way of a mortgage, secured on 

the premises, of _20,400,000 over 20 years from Bank of Ireland Corporate Lending.

The Irish Medicines Board is committed to making the following capital repayments on its 

mortgage :

- within one year  340,000  340,000 

- between one and five years  1,360,000  1,360,000 

- after five years  13,610,000  18,700,000 

 ��,��0,000  20,400,000 

�� Interest rate Exposure

The IMB have taken all necessary steps to minimise its interest rate exposure by fixing 2/3s of the 

borrowings for a period of 10 years. The balance of the interest exposure is largely offset by cash 

reserves. For 2006 it is estimated that the net borrowings for which an interest rate exposure may 

arise is _1,800,000.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2005
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�00� 

_

2004 

_

�� financial Commitments

Operating Leases

Amounts payable during the next twelve

months in respect of leases which expire

- within one year  -  - 

- between one and five years  -  - 

- after five years (in respect of Alexandra House)  236,000  236,000 

 ���,000  236,000 

The operating lease amount includes an annual commitment of _236,000 in respect of the Board’s 

premises at Alexandra House, Earlsfort Centre, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2.

As shown in note 13 above, the IMB purchased Kevin O’Malley House on 22 December 2004, 

which is why no further lease obligations exist in respect of that premises.

On 22 December 2004 the IMB signed a leasehold interest with 17 years remaining in respect of 

the 5th floor, Alexandra House, Earlsfort Centre, Dublin 2.

�00� 

_

2004 

_

�� Capital Commitments

Contracted For (Contract Signed)  360,400  343,000 

Not Contracted For  442,000  323,000 

  �0�,�00 666,000

�� Board remuneration

Chairman’s Salary  24,951  24,022 

Board Members’ Travel Expenses  11,976  15,406 

  ��,��� 39,428

�� Staff remuneration

Chief Executive’s Remuneration  134,050  130,973 

(Stated net of Superannuation Contributions)

 ���,0�0 130,973

�� related party Transactions

There have been no transactions with related parties which require disclosure under Financial 

Reporting Standard 8.

�0 prompt payment Of accounts

The Irish Medicines Board (IMB) confirms that it is complying with EU law in relation to prompt 

payments of account.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2005
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�� Exchange rates

The exchange rates used in preparing these Financial Statements were as follows: 2005 _1 = STG 

£0.670118 2004 No Sterling cash balances held as at 31/12/04.

�� Maltese Twinning Income

This arose as a result of a twinning exercise carried out by the IMB in order to help establish a 

Medicines Agency in Malta, which was funded by the European Union.

�� approval of financial Statements

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board on 31 May 2006.
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Management Committee Members 

and Committees

Management Committee

Mr Pat O’Mahony – Chief Executive

Dr J.G. Beechinor – Director of Veterinary 

Medicines

Dr. Joan Gilvarry – Director of Human Medicines 

Mr John Lynch – Director of Compliance

Ms Suzanne McDonald – Director of IT and Change 

Management

Dr J. Michael Morris – Senior Scientific Advisor

Ms. Ann O’Connor – Medical Devices Director

Ms. Rita Purcell – Director of Finance and 

Corporate Affairs

Advisory Committee for Human 

Medicines

Prof. Brendan Buckley – Chairman

Dr. Kevin Connolly

Dr. Tom McGuinn

Ms. Eugenie Canavan

Prof. Desmond Fitzgerald

Dr. Mary Horgan

Dr. Patrick Sullivan

Dr. Rory Lehane

Prof. John Kelly

Dr. Bernard Silke

Prof. Ted Dinan

Advisory Committee for Veterinary 

Medicines 

Mr P. J. O’Connor – Chairman

Mr. Paul Mulville

Mr. Tom McGuinn

Mr. John McArdle

Mr. Rory Breathnach

Ms. Eugenie Canavan

Mr. Timothy Kyne

Mr. Desmond Leadon

Mr. Thomas Barragry

Mr. Pat Brangan

Dr. Anne Cullinane

Dr. Kevin O’Farrell

Clinical Trial Sub-Committee of 

Advisory Committee for Human 

Medicines

Dr. Patrick Sullivan - Chairman

Dr. Liam. T. Bannan

Dr. Tom Pierce

Prof. David Bouchier-Hayes

Dr. John Taffe

Dr. Paul Browne

Dr. Pat Manning

Prof. Ted Dinan

Prof. Sidney Lowry

Advisory Committee for Medical 

Devices

Mr. Wilfred J. Higgins - Chairman

Dr. Geoffrey Chadwick

Ms. Maureen D’Arcy

Dr. John Keogh

Prof. Robert McConnell

Dr. Brendan Cormack

Dr. Tim McGloughlin

Ms. Aideen Murphy

Dr. John O’Mullane

Ms. Maebh Smith

Prof.W. Arthur Tanner

Prof. Wil van der Putten

APPENDIx I :



Irish Medicines Board Annual Report 2005

��

Irish Medicines Board Annual Report 2005

Experts Sub-Committee of the 

Advisory Committee for Human 

Medicines

Dr. M. Horgan  

Dr. Michael Behan 

Mr Donal Brosnahan 

Dr. Brendan Buckley 

Dr. Colin Buckley 

Dr. O. Carey  

Prof. Martin Clynes 

Dr. Kevin Connolly 

Dr. Ide Delargey 

Dr. Noreen Dowd 

Dr Stephen Eustace 

Dr. Linda Fenelon 

Prof. D. Fitzgerald 

Prof. M. Fitzgerald 

Dr. S. Flint 

Dr. J. Galvin 

Dr. K. Kelleher 

Dr. Mary Keogan 

Dr. L. Kyne 

Prof. Brian A. Lawlor 

Dr. John McCaffrey 

Dr. P. McCormack 

Dr. F. Murray 

Dr. O Hensey 

Dr. Camillus Power 

Prof. B. Shepard 

Dr. Brion Sweeney 

Dr. D. Veale
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APPENDIx I I :  GLOSSARy

ADR: Adverse Drug Reaction

AIMD: Active Implantable Medical Device

APHA: Animal and Plant Health Association

API: Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient

APMI: Association of Pharmaceutical 

Manufacturers of Ireland

CA: Competent Authority

COMP: Committee for Orphan Medicinal 

Products

CPMP:  Committee for Proprietary Medicinal 

Products 

CJD: Creutzfeldt Jakob Disease 

CTD: Common Technical Document

CVMP: Committee for Veterinary Medicinal 

Products

DAF: Department of Agriculture and Food 

DoHC: Department of Health and Children

EC: European Community 

ECTD: Electronic Common Technical 

Document

EDQM: European Directorate for Quality of 

Medicines

EEA: European Economic Area

EMEA: European Agency for the Evaluation 

of Medicinal Products

EU: European Union

FDA: Food and Drug Administration

FEDESA: European Federation of Animal 

Health

FOI: Freedom of Information

GCP: Good Clinical Practice

GMD: General Medical Device

GMP: Good Manufacturing Practice 

HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus

HML: Human Medicines Licensing 

HRT: Hormone Replacement Therapy

IAHS: Irish Association of Health Stores

IASSM Irish Association of Sterile Service 

Manager

ICH: International Conference on 

Harmonisation

IEQAS  Irish External Qualty Assurance 

Scheme

IHTA: Irish Health Trade Association

IMB:  Irish Medicines Board

IMDA: Irish Medical Devices Association

IPCMF: Irish Pharmaceutical and Chemical 

Manufacturers Federation

IPHA: Irish Pharmaceutical Healthcare 

Association

IVD: In-Vitro Diagnostic

MA: Marketing Authorisation

MAH: Marketing Authorisation Holder

MCA: Medicines Control Agency

MDA: Medical Devices Agency

MHRA: Medical Healthcare Regulatory 

Agency

MR: Mutual Recognition

MRA: Mutual Recognition Agreement

MRL: Maximum Residue Limit

NBOG: Notified Bodies Operations Group

NDAB: National Drugs Advisory Board

NSAI: National Standards Authority of 

Ireland

NSAID: Non Steroidal Anti Inflammatory Drug

PA: Product Authorisation

PERF: Pan European Regulatory Forum

Ph.Eur.: European Pharmacopoeia

PhVWP: Pharmacovigilance Working Party

PIC/S: Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-

Operation Scheme

PIM Product Information Management

SCHMP: Scientific Committee on Herbal 

Medicinal Products

SWP: Safety Working Party

TSE: Transmissible Spongiform 

Encephalopathy

UN: United Nations

VPA: Veterinary Product Authorisation

WHO: World Health Organisation
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Kevin O’Malley House 

Earlsfort Centre 

Earlsfort Terrace 

Dublin 2

Tel: +353 1 676 4971 

Fax: +353 1 676 7836 

email: imb@imb.ie 

web: www.imb.ie
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